#### Volume VI

#### **Provisional version**

#### **ARTICLE 100**

(Advance version, to be issued in volume VI of Supplement No. 10 (forthcoming) of the *Repertory of Practice of United Nations Organs*)

#### **Contents**

Paragraphs				
Text of Article 100				
Introductory Note				
I. General survey6-15				
II. Analytical summary of practice				
A. The concept of the Secretariat as an international civil service				
B. The obligations of members of the Secretariat				
1. Responsibility of the Secretary-General with regard to the exercise				
of functions of staff members				
2. Obligations of staff members regarding the performance of duties35-86				
a. Overall professional responsibility of staff				
b. Responsibility to the Secretary-General in the performance of duties 48-49				
c. Acceptance of instructions from external authorities50-54				
d. Discretion in the performance of official duties55-60				
e. Impartiality in the performance of official duties				
f. Integrity in the performance of official duties71-78				
g. Adherence to the principles of equality and non-discrimination				
in the performance of official duties				
3. Obligations regarding personal conduct				
a. Conduct in the interests of the United Nations				
b. Outside professional or financial activities				
c. Acceptance of gifts, honours or favours96-99				

		d. Activities connected with the information media	100-107
		e. Political activities	108-109
		f. Criminal activities	110-119
C.	The ob	oligations of Member States	120-152
	1.	Privileges and Immunities of the Secretariat	120-134
	2.	The question of Governments providing the Secretary-General with	
		information relating to staff members	135-136
	3.	The question of regulation by a State of its own nationals on staff	137-143
	4.	The question of State regulations applicable to other staff members	144-145
	5.	Requests to appoint or replace officials	146
	6.	The question of special rights and obligations of the host country	147-148
	7.	The question of secondment	149-150
	8.	Supplementary payments to staff	151-152
D.	Questi	ons arising from the relationship of staff members to the State of which	
	they are a national		

#### TEXT OF ARTICLE 100

- 1. In the performance of their duties the Secretary-General and the staff shall not seek or receive instructions from any Government or from any other authority external to the Organization. They shall refrain from any action which might reflect on their position as international officials responsible only to the Organization.
- 2. Each Member of the United Nations undertakes to respect the exclusively international character of the responsibilities of the Secretary-General and the staff and not to seek to influence them in the discharge of their responsibilities.

#### INTRODUCTORY NOTE

- 1. Article 100 represents the independence of United Nations staff members and the continuing importance of their role as international officials to be free of any control from Member States or any external influence, and the corollary obligation on the part of Member States to respect that independence.<sup>1</sup> As part of Chapter XV of the United Nations Charter, Article 100 codifies the ideal of an exclusively international Secretariat, whose staff is strongly committed to impartiality and independence, responsible solely to the Organization.<sup>2</sup>
- 2. The aim of the present Study is to illustrate any major decisions taken during the period under review that were designed to ensure the continuing independence and impartiality of staff members. It is also the aim to give the reader an idea of the evolution of these decisions and the particular issues and questions that have arisen in connection thereto.
- 3. The format of this Study largely follows the revised format introduced in the previous Study of Article 100. The subheadings introduced in the previous Study have been maintained in order to offer a more coherent flow of information regarding the factors impacting on the independence of international civil servants.

Copyright © United Nations

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For a history of the negotiation of this Article and its purpose, reference may be made to the negotiations of the San Francisco conference. See Documents of the United Nations Conference on International Organization.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See discussion under the Study of this Article in the Repertory of Practice of United Nations Organs.

- 4. The General Survey gives an overview of the trends influencing Article 100 and the key issues that have arisen and been addressed by the Organization in the period under review. The Analytical Summary of Practice will explore these issues in more depth, elaborating upon the development of policies and decisions that could be observed in the period under review.
- 5. In any review of the factors concerning the independence and impartiality of staff members, some overlap will be found with other articles of the Charter, most notably, Article 105, which concerns the privileges and immunities of the Organization.<sup>3</sup> Further reference may be made to Article 8 of the Charter in relation to the character and the composition of the Secretariat.<sup>4</sup> Links with Article 101 can also be found with respect to issues applicable to the recruitment and appointment of staff.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>3</sup> Ibid., Article 105.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Ibid., Article 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See discussion under the Study of Article 101 in this Supplement.

#### I. GENERAL SURVEY

- 6. The General Assembly frequently recalled Article 100 in the period under review, most notably with respect to human resources questions and issues involving respect for privileges and immunities<sup>6</sup>. The Assembly asked that the highest standards of efficiency, competence and integrity serve as the paramount consideration in the employment of international civil servants and referenced Article 100 in that regard<sup>7</sup>. This included the use of consultants, individual contractors, gratis personnel and retired staff despite some limitations<sup>8</sup>. Article 100 was again referenced by the Assembly with respect to the new streamlined system of contractual arrangements with one set of Staff Rules and three types of appointment<sup>9</sup>. The simplified contractual framework was to provide clarity, transparency and fairness for all concerned, as highlighted by the Assembly<sup>10</sup>.
- 7. Article 100 is also intrinsically linked to discussions related to equality in the international character of the Secretariat. Geographical representation was underlined as being of utmost importance<sup>11</sup>, with emphasis on the use of national competitive examinations in order to reduce non-representation and under-representation of Member States in the Secretariat<sup>12</sup>. The use of consultants was to be governed by certain provisions in order not to distort the geographical balance of the Secretariat<sup>13</sup> and the employment of retirees in decision-making positions should occur only in exceptional circumstances<sup>14</sup>. Gender equality became a dominant feature in human resources policies throughout the period under review. The Assembly made many calls for gender parity<sup>15</sup> and the International Civil Service Commission's 2001 standards of conduct for the international

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> A/RES/63/138, para. 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See, e.g., A/RES/59/266, A/RES/60/238, A/RES/63/250. See also ST/AI/2005/11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> A/RES/63/250, sect. XI. See also A/57/735, A/63/526.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> A/RES/63/250.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> A/RES/62/274, para. 16; A/RES/298, para. 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>A/RES/57/305, sect. II (8), A/RES/59/266, sect. I (9) and sect. IV, A/RES/61/244, sects. I (2), II (1, 3, 5, 6) and X, A/RES/63/250, sects. III (1, 2), V (2) and IX. See also ST/AI/2002/4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> A/RES/63/250, sect. IV, and A/RES/61/244, sect. III.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> A/RES/53/221, sect. VIII.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> A/RES/63/250, sect. XI.

 $<sup>^{15}</sup>$  A/RES/55/258, sect. IV, para. 7, and sect. XIV, A/RES/57/305, sect. II, paras. 11, 40 and 41, A/RES/59/266, sect. I, para. 9, sect. VI, A/RES/61/244, sect. II, paras. 2, 5, 8 and 10, and sect. XI, A/RES/63/250, sect. III, para. 2, sect. V, paras. 1 and 2.

civil service ("ICSC 2001 standards of conduct") make frequent references to the necessity for all international civil servants to respect the equal rights of all<sup>16</sup> as a main principle of the Charter<sup>17</sup>.

- 8. Significant consideration was given to the health and well-being of staff members, notably in regards to their work-life balance, during the period under review. This included introducing flexible working arrangements<sup>18</sup>, policies on breastfeeding<sup>19</sup>, paternity leave<sup>20</sup>, updated instructions on sick leave<sup>21</sup>, medical standards and clearance<sup>22</sup>, medical evacuation<sup>23</sup>, policy on HIV/AIDS in the workplace<sup>24</sup> and the non-smoking policy<sup>25</sup>.
- 9. During the review period there were discussions on the responsibilities of staff members in their professional and personal conduct. A codification of the core idea of conduct befitting an international civil servant was implemented by the International Civil Service Commission in the ICSC 2001 standards of conduct<sup>26</sup>. Furthermore, the major revision of the Staff Regulations and Rules in 2009 was to underpin the requirements of all staff members and nature of the professional conduct of staff<sup>27</sup>. This was complemented by the establishment of the Ethics Office and the system wide code of ethics<sup>28</sup>. During the period under review the provisions related to acceptance of any honour, decoration, favour, gift or remuneration<sup>29</sup>, partaking in outside activities<sup>30</sup> and filing financial disclosure

 $<sup>^{16}</sup>$  Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifty-sixth Session, Supplement No. 30 (A/56/30), annex II, para. 6. See also paras. 3, 13 and 36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Ibid., para. 14. See also ST/AI/2002/4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> ST/SGB/2003/4. See also A/57/387.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> ST/SGB/2003/14.

 $<sup>^{20}</sup>$  ST/AI/2005/2. The background discussion leading to the drafting of this issuance can be found in the report of the International Civil Service Commission for 2004, A/59/30, Vol. I.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> ST/AI/2005/3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> ST/AI/2000/7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> ST/AI/2000/10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> ST/SGB/2003/18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> ST/SGB/2003/9.

 $<sup>^{26}</sup>$  Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifty-sixth Session, Supplement No. 30 (A/56/30), annex II, para. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> A/RES/63/271.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> A/RES/60/254. See also ST/SGB/2005/21, ST/SGB/2005/22 and ST/SGB/2007/11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Ibid., Staff Rule 1.2 (k) and (l), ST/IC/2006/31, ST/SGB/2006/5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Ibid., Staff Rule 1.2 (r). See also ST/IC/2000/13.

statements<sup>31</sup> were expanded upon. The Assembly also made calls for the strengthening of accountability and for effective accountability mechanisms to be an integral and essential element of human resource management throughout the Organization<sup>32</sup>. Discretion in personal and professional conduct was also further considered during the period under review<sup>33</sup> and more comprehensive legislation on conflict of interest was established<sup>34</sup>. Professional conduct must also be underscored by a high level of integrity, something the Assembly repeatedly stated during the period under review<sup>35</sup>, especially with respect to the employment of staff<sup>36</sup>, the system of administration of justice<sup>37</sup>, procurement reform and outsourcing<sup>38</sup> and the legal obligations of staff<sup>39</sup>. The Assembly also called for a "zero-tolerance policy" towards acts of sexual exploitation and abuse<sup>40</sup>. Subsequent policies were implemented in response<sup>41</sup>.

10. The issue of staff members committing criminal acts was considered in depth during the period under review. The ICSC 2001 standards of conduct noted that acts that are generally recognized as criminal offences by national criminal laws will normally also be violations of the standards of conduct for the international civil service<sup>42</sup>. The Assembly discussed the topic on a number of occasions<sup>43</sup> and in 2007 passed a resolution on the criminal accountability of United Nations officials and experts on mission<sup>44</sup>. Since 2007, the Assembly has been passing a resolution on the matter on an annual basis.<sup>45</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> ST/SGB/2009/7, Staff Regulation 1.2 (n).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> See, e.g., A/RES/55/221, A/RES/57/155, A/RES/57/287, A/RES/59/266, A/RES/59/283, A/RES/60/283, A/RES/61/244, A/RES/61/246, A/RES/61/261, A/RES/62/228, A/RES/62/269. See also ST/SGB/2006/15 and ST/AI/2004/3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifty-sixth Session, Supplement No. 30 (A/56/30), annex II, para. 35, and ST/SGB/2007/6, ST/AI/2000/13, ST/AI/2001/5, sect. 2.5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> A/56/323, annex III, ST/AI/2000/13, ST/SGB/2005/21, ST/SGB/2006/6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> A/RES/55/223, A/RES/59/268

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> A/RES/57/305, A/RES/60/238, A/RES/63/250.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> A/RES/57/307.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> A/RES/55/232, A/RES/59/289, A/RES/61/246.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> ST/AI/2000/12. See also A/RES/52/252.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> A/RES/59/296, sect. XIV.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> ST/SGB/2003/13 and ST/SGB/2005/20. See also A/RES/57/306 and ST/SGB/2008/5.

 $<sup>^{42}</sup>$  Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifty-sixth Session, Supplement No. 30 (A/56/30), annex II, para. 40.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> A/RES/61/29 and Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixty-second Session, Supplement No. 54 (A/62/54).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> A/RES/62/63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> A/RES/63/119, A/64/110, A/65/20 and A/66/93.

- 11. In addition to the personal obligations of staff members, the period under review witnessed considerable discussion and development of the requirements of Member States to uphold the international character and independence of the Secretariat. The Assembly has on many occasions requested the Secretary General to ensure the safety and security of all United Nations staff members<sup>46</sup>. However, the Security Council and the Assembly have stressed that under international law the primary responsibility for the safety and security of such personnel lies with the host Governments, and has accordingly urged all Member States to take protective measures and to prosecute the perpetrators of such acts against staff members<sup>47</sup>.
- 12. The absence in many cases of timely information being provided by host governments to the Organization in the event of the arrest or detention of United Nations staff members and associated personnel was highlighted as a serious impediment to the improvement of the security of United Nations and associated personnel<sup>48</sup>.
- 13. In the period in question, there were calls for governments to cooperate with each other in exchanging information to facilitate the conduct of investigations into the criminal acts by staff members<sup>49</sup>. The call for heightened security influenced updated policies within the Secretariat designed to strengthen and enhance system-wide security management<sup>50</sup>.
- 14. Other issues related to the obligations of Member States came up in the context of military service<sup>51</sup>, immunity from taxation<sup>52</sup>, visa issuances<sup>53</sup> and travel controls<sup>54</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> A/RES/55/175, para. 7, A/RES/57/155, para. 9, A/RES/59/211, paras. 14 to 16, Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifty-sixth Session, Supplement No. 30 (A/56/30), annex II, para. 37. See also ST/SGB/2002/13, Commentary on Regulation 1.2 (c) and A/RES/60/123, A/RES/61/133 and A/RES/62/95.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> S/PRST/2000/4. See also A/RES/56/217, A/RES/57/155, CEB/2004/6, A/RES/59/211, A/RES/60/123, A/RES/54/192, A/RES/55/175, A/RES/64/77, A/RES/56/84. See also Repertory of Practice, Article 105 and A/55/637, A/54/619-S/1999/957, A/RES/56/89, A/RES/57/338, A/RES/58/122, A/RES/62/96.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> See, e.g., A/RES/54/192, A/RES/56/217, A/RES/60/123, A/RES/62/95, and A/RES/64/77.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> A/RES/62/63 and A/RES/63/119.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> A/RES/63/138, A/59/365, A/64/336, ST/SGB/2003/19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> ST/SGB/2009/7, Staff Rule 5.3 (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> ST/IC/2004/31, Judgement No. 1185, *Van Leeuwen* (2004), United Nations Juridical Yearbook, 2005, p. 440. See also United Nations Juridical Yearbook, 2003, p. 558, United Nations Yearbook, 2005, p. 446, United Nations Juridical Yearbook, 2007, p. 398, and United Nations Juridical Yearbook, 2008, p. 401.

15. The period under review saw confirmation that secondment from government service is consistent with, *inter alia*, Article 100 and was of benefit to both the Organization and Member States<sup>55</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> ST/AI/2000/19. Additional information provided in ST/IC/2001/27, ST/SGB/2000/11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> See, e.g., A/RES/55/154, para. 5, A/RES/56/84, para. 4, A/RES/57/22, para. 5, A/RES/58/78, para. 5.
See also ST/IC/2004/38, ST/IC/2005/15, ST/IC/2006/10, ST/IC/2005/59, A/RES/60/24, para. 5. See also A/RES/61/41, para. 4, A/RES/62/72, para. 5, A/RES/63/130, para. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> A/RES/55/258, sect. IV, para. 19.

#### II. ANALYTICAL SUMMARY OF PRACTICE

#### A. The concept of the Secretariat as an international civil service

16. The international context within which the United Nations operates has presented many challenges and unique opportunities for the United Nations Secretariat and the international civil service as a whole. The changing times have placed new demands on the functions and capacity of staff of the United Nations and have had an impact upon the basic tenets on which the international civil service rests. During the period under review, the General Assembly repeatedly recalled Article 100 when requesting that the Secretary-General ensure that the highest standards of efficiency, competence and integrity serve as the paramount consideration in the employment of international civil servants<sup>56</sup>.

17. In this respect, the <u>panel on the strengthening of the international civil service</u>, established by the General Assembly in resolution 57/285 of 20 December 2002<sup>57</sup>, remarked that:

"...the basic principles on which the Charter of the United Nations is based not only retain all their validity but acquire even greater relevance in the new international environment in which the United Nations system is presently operating. Indeed, in relation to the international civil service, the Charter principles of independence (Article 100) and of the "highest standards of efficiency, competence and integrity" (Article 101) should be the overriding values to which all efforts at advancing a modern international civil service, responsive to the changing demands and requirements of the new century, should be geared" 58.

18. This panel noted that a strong international civil service is dependent upon attracting staff of the highest calibre<sup>59</sup>, staff who are "versatile, mobile and multi-skilled" and for Member States to give the highest possible attention to driving the management of human

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> See, e.g., A/RES/59/266, A/RES/60/238, A/RES/63/250.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> See also the Report of the Secretary-General on "Strengthening of the international civil service," A/57/612.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> A/59/153, para. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Ibid., para. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Ibid., para. 19.

resources as an investment in the future of the UN system<sup>61</sup>. In reply to the report of the panel, the Secretary-General recommended that the General Assembly reaffirm, *inter alia*, the continuing validity and special relevance of Article 100<sup>62</sup> when considering the strengthening of the international civil service.

19. The independence of the international civil service has been in the forefront of any reform of the Secretariat in the period under review. The ICSC 2001 standards of conduct, as welcomed by the General Assembly in its resolution 56/244, state that:

"If the impartiality of the international civil service is to be maintained, international civil servants must remain independent of any authority outside their organization; their conduct must reflect that independence."

- 20. Indeed, the ICSC Framework for Human Resources Management, which fed into these new standards of conduct, underlined that its philosophy was grounded "in the principles emanating from the provisions of the United Nations Charter, namely, the independence of the international civil service and the need for the organizations to recruit staff with the highest standards of efficiency, competence and integrity, with due regard to the importance of recruiting the staff on as wide a geographical basis as possible and to the equal participation of men and women in the work of the organizations"<sup>64</sup>.
- 21. The diversification of the Secretariat's business needs has had an impact upon appointments in the United Nations system which saw a move towards building a workforce based on a more rapid response capability. This led to the creation of an array of contractual arrangements and, as discussed in the report of the Panel on the Strengthening of the International Civil Service:

<sup>62</sup> A/59/399, para. 28.

<sup>61</sup> Ibid., para. 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifty-sixth Session, Supplement No. 30 (A/56/30), annex II, para. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> "Framework for Human Resources Management" found at http://icsc.un.org/resources/hrpd/hrm/ICSC\_hrm\_eng.pdf

"These arrangements should reflect best practices, provide the necessary degree of operational and administrative flexibility, and be tailored to the needs of a modern, global international civil service".

22. In 2009 the Assembly approved the new streamlined system of contractual arrangements with three types of appointment, namely 'temporary', 'fixed-term' and 'continuing'<sup>66</sup>. Further streamlining the contractual arrangements under one set of Staff Rules (as opposed to the 100, 200 and 300 series) was designed to "assist the United Nations in fulfilling its mandate and provide greater simplicity, clarity, transparency and fairness for all concerned"<sup>67</sup> and to "promote the equitable treatment of staff members"<sup>68</sup>.

23. The Secretary-General's report on "Investing in the United Nations: for a stronger Organization worldwide" envisaged "an independent international civil service which will once again be known for its high standards of ethics, fairness, transparency and accountability". This was to be done through the introduction of a new human resources framework, which would include not only the streamlining of contractual arrangements but also proactive, targeted and faster recruitment, a strengthened system of staff mobility and targeted training. Leading on from this, a report issued in 2006<sup>72</sup> reiterated the desire for "an independent international civil service with the highest standards of performance and accountability" and built upon these reform plans with the aim of "adapting the Organization's human resources management framework to meet evolving requirements, increase transparency and clarify accountability lines". These reform measures helped conserve the independence and strength of the international civil service.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> A/59/153, p. 12.

<sup>66</sup> A/RES/63/250.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> A/62/274, para. 15.

<sup>68</sup> Ibid., para. 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> A/60/692.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Ibid., para. 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Ibid.

 $<sup>^{72}\,\</sup>mathrm{A}/61/255.$ 

 $<sup>^{73}</sup>$  Ibid., para. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Ibid., para. 400.

24. Throughout the period under review geographic representation was also highlighted as an area for reform<sup>75</sup> and the Assembly made calls for further efforts to recruit staff members on as wide a geographical basis as possible<sup>76</sup>. The Assembly also underlined the importance of maintaining the use of national competitive examinations in order to reduce non-representation and under-representation of Member States in the Secretariat<sup>77</sup>.

25. The issue of gratis personnel and their impact on an impartial Secretariat was also considered. As discussed in the previous Study, the use of gratis personnel was to be limited by certain provisions<sup>78</sup>. The Advisory Committee on Administrative and Budgetary Questions requested that the Secretary-General include all information on gratis personnel when considering the broader context of the composition of the Secretariat with more detailed information on those who are classified as type 1 gratis personnel (that is, associate experts, technical cooperation experts and interns)<sup>79</sup>. An administrative instruction released in 2005 prohibited interns (type 1 gratis personnel) from applying or being appointed to any international position at the professional level and above for a period of six months following the end of their internship<sup>80</sup>. This rule was to prevent any unfair advantage in recruitment in order to preserve the independence and equality of the Secretariat.

26. The Assembly further revisited the use of consultants, individual contractors, gratis personnel and employment of retired staff in its resolution on Human Resources Management in 2009<sup>81</sup>. Concerns were raised with respect to the increased use of consultants. One such concern was that the use of consultants could distort the geographical balance of the Secretariat<sup>82</sup>. The Assembly also requested that the employment of retirees in decision-making positions should occur only in exceptional circumstances<sup>83</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> A/60/692, A/61/255.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> A/RES/55/258, sect. IV (8), A/RES/57/305, sect. II (8), A/RES/59/266, sect. I(9) and sect. IV, A/RES/61/244, sect. I(2), II(1, 3, 5, 6) and X, A/RES/63/250, sect. III (1, 2), V (2) and IX.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> A/RES/63/250, sect. IV; A/RES/61/244, sect. III.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> See also A/RES/51/243.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> A/57/735, A/63/526.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> ST/AI/2005/11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> A/RES/63/250, sect. XI.

<sup>82</sup> See, e.g., A/RES/53/221, sect. VIII.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> A/RES/63/250, sect. XI.

#### B. The obligations of members of the Secretariat

- 1. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE SECRETARY-GENERAL WITH REGARD TO THE EXERCISE OF FUNCTIONS OF STAFF MEMBERS
- 27. Staff regulation 1.1 (c) "codifies an implicit duty that falls on the Secretary-General ... to ensure that the rights and duties of staff members are respected" 84.
- 28. In the 2005 World Summit Outcome Document, which was adopted by the General Assembly, the Member States reaffirmed the role of the Secretary-General as the chief administrative officer of the Organization<sup>85</sup>, and underlined his right to make proposals on the conditions and measures necessary for him to carry out his managerial responsibilities effectively<sup>86</sup>.
- 29. In the changes to the staff rules in 2009, the necessity for staff members to follow the directions and instructions properly issued by the Secretary-General and by their supervisors<sup>87</sup> became the first provision under the 'basic rights and obligations of staff'.
- 30. In exercising his authority as the Chief Administrative Officer of the Organization, the Secretary-General takes into consideration the overall health and well-being of staff. The Secretary-General called for the introduction of flexible working arrangements in a report in 2002<sup>88</sup>, citing a better balance between the professional and personal lives of staff members as a way to attract and retain quality staff, in particular women. The need for all staff members to have a healthy work-life balance was recognised with the issuance of new policies defining the options for flexible working arrangements<sup>89</sup>, and on breastfeeding<sup>90</sup>. Another significant change to the work-life balance of staff members was the introduction

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> ST/SGB/2002/13, Commentary on Regulation 1.1 (c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> A/RES/60/1, para. 162.

<sup>86</sup> Ibid.

<sup>87</sup> ST/SGB/2009/7, Staff Rule 1.2 (a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> A/57/387.

<sup>89</sup> ST/SGB/2003/4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> ST/SGB/2003/14.

of paternity leave in 2005<sup>91</sup>. Other related issuances included updated instructions on sick leave<sup>92</sup>, medical standards and clearance<sup>93</sup> and on medical evacuation<sup>94</sup>, as well as bulletins on HIV/AIDS in the workplace<sup>95</sup> and the new non-smoking policy<sup>96</sup>.

31. The Assembly has on many occasions requested the Secretary-General to ensure the safety and security of all United Nations staff members 97. This "inherent responsibility" has been recognised as a basic right of staff<sup>99</sup>. The Assembly has called on the Secretary-General to take the necessary measures to ensure full respect of the human rights, privileges and immunities of staff carrying out activities in fulfilment of the mandate of a United Nations operation<sup>100</sup>, and to seek the inclusion, in negotiations of headquarters and, *inter alia*, other mission agreements, of the applicable conditions contained in the conventions relating to [the] privileges and immunities, and to the safety of United Nations and associated personnel<sup>101</sup>. In particular, the inclusion of key provisions such as those on the prevention of attacks, the establishment of such attacks as crimes punishable by law and the prosecution or extradition of offenders was underlined 102. The Assembly requested that the Secretary-General take measures to ensure that all staff members are properly informed of the minimum operating security standards and relevant codes of conduct and that they are adequately trained in security, human rights law and international humanitarian law<sup>103</sup>. The Assembly also called for adequate security training to be provided on, inter alia, cultural awareness and stress management<sup>104</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> ST/AI/2005/2. The background discussion leading to the drafting of this issuance can be found in the report of the International Civil Service Commission for 2004, A/59/30, Vol. I.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> ST/AI/2005/3.

<sup>93</sup> ST/AI/2000/7.

<sup>94</sup> ST/AI/2000/10.

<sup>95</sup> ST/SGB/2003/18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> ST/SGB/2003/9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> A/RES/55/175, para. 7, A/RES/57/155, para. 9, A/RES/59/211, paras. 14-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> ST/SGB/2002/13, Commentary on Regulation 1.2 (c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifty-sixth Session, Supplement No. 30 (A/56/30), annex II, para. 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> A/RES/63/138, para. 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> Ibid., para. 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> Ibid., para. 15.

 $<sup>^{103}</sup>$  Ibid., para. 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> Ibid., para. 23.

32. Staff Regulation 1.1 (d) provides that the Secretary-General shall seek to ensure that the paramount consideration in the determination of the conditions of service shall be the necessity of securing staff members of the highest standards of efficiency, competence and integrity, which are required from all international civil servants.

33. The Secretary-General's bulletin on the "Status, basic rights and duties of United Nations staff members" clarifies that:

"Staff regulation 1.1 (d) places on the Secretary-General an affirmative duty to seek to ensure that the criteria set out in Article 101, paragraph 3, of the Charter for the determination of the conditions of service of the staff are implemented. This provision is not intended to affect the role of legislative bodies involved in the process of establishing conditions of service. It does, however, seek to formulate the responsibility of the Secretary-General to advocate, in the appropriate forums, the adoption of what he or she considers being the appropriate conditions of service to secure the recruitment and retention of staff possessing the highest standards of efficiency, competence and integrity" 105.

34. In 2006 the United Nations Office of Legal Affairs (OLA) prepared a note on the powers and role of the Secretary-General<sup>106</sup>. The note highlighted that the Secretary-General has the sole authority to appoint and administer his staff, although he must do so under regulations established by the General Assembly. The note further clarified that the United Nations Staff Regulations delegate to the Secretary-General the power to make subsidiary legislation so long as it is consistent with the Staff Regulations, which supports the view that the General Assembly deals with the generic, while the Secretary-General deals with the specific matters related to staff. Nevertheless, the note observed instances in which the General Assembly dealt with specific matters of staff administration, such as discouraging the use of retired staff to present reports to any intergovernmental body<sup>107</sup> and limiting the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> ST/SGB/2002/13, Commentary Regulation 1.1(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> United Nations Juridical Yearbook, 2006, p. 462.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> A/RES/57/305, sect. VI, para. 7.

number of posts to which successful candidates from the G-to-P exam could be appointed 108.

- 2. OBLIGATIONS OF STAFF MEMBERS REGARDING THE PERFORMANCE OF THEIR DUTIES
  - a. Overall professional responsibility of staff
- 35. The Secretary-General's bulletin on "Organizational Competences for the future"<sup>109</sup>, defines "integrity" as a core value and "accountability" as an essential core competency. Staff members are thus required to carry out their duties professionally, in compliance with these core values.
- 36. Conduct befitting an international civil servant was considered by the International Civil Service Commission in the ICSC 2001 standards of conduct<sup>110</sup>. The Commission stated that:
  - "... international civil servants have a special calling: to serve the ideals of peace, of respect for fundamental rights, of economic and social progress, and of international cooperation. It is therefore incumbent on international civil servants to adhere to the highest standards of conduct; for ultimately, it is the international civil service that will enable the United Nations system to bring about a just and peaceful world."
- 37. The Staff Regulations and Rules also define the professional responsibility of staff. The major revision of these regulations and rules in 2009, as promulgated in ST/SGB/2009/7, underpins the nature of the professional conduct required of staff and further codifies the responsibilities of staff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> A/RES/59/266, sect. III, paras. 2-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> ST/SGB/1999/15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifty-sixth Session, Supplement No. 30 (A/56/30), annex II, para. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>111 Ibid., para. 2.

38. The scope of the written declaration called for under Staff Regulation 1.1 (b) where staff members promise to "exercise loyalty, discretion and conscience" was extended to include the time after a staff member ends his or her service with the United Nations<sup>112</sup>.

39. This requirement for professional behaviour was also extended in the revised Staff Rule 1.5 concerning the recruitment process:

"Staff members shall be responsible for supplying the Secretary-General with relevant information, as required, both during the application process and on subsequent employment, for the purpose of determining their status under the Staff Regulations and Staff Rules as well as for the purpose of completing administrative arrangements in connection with their employment. Staff members shall be held personally accountable for the accuracy and completeness of the information they provide" 113.

40. The revisions added new rules on the acceptance of any "honour, decoration, favour, gift or remuneration"<sup>114</sup> and on a staff member partaking in outside activities<sup>115</sup>. There was also a change in the level of staff member required to file financial disclosure statements<sup>116</sup>. These additions are discussed in greater depth below.

41. A principal concern related to the professional responsibility of staff during the period of this Study was the increasing emphasis placed on measures to strengthen accountability. The main impetus for this approach to accountability came at the World Summit in 2005 when Member States called for "effective and efficient mechanisms for responsibility and accountability of the Secretariat" The Assembly has also made many

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> Ibid., Staff Rule 1.1 (a) reads: "The declaration made by a staff member on appointment pursuant to staff regulation 1.1 (b) shall be placed in his or her official status file. A new declaration shall be made after a break in service that exceeds three months. The obligations outlined in the declaration do not lapse upon cessation of his or her service with the United Nations."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> Ibid., Staff Rule 1.5.

<sup>114</sup> Ibid., Staff Rule 1.2 (k) and (l).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> Ibid., Staff Rule 1.2 (r). See also discussion infra.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> ST/SGB/2009/7, Staff Regulation 1.2 (n).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> A/RES/60/1, para. 161.

calls for the strengthening of accountability and for effective accountability mechanisms to be an integral and essential element of human resource management throughout the Organization<sup>118</sup>. They referred to, *inter alia*, accountability of officials other than Secretariat officials and experts on mission<sup>119</sup>, the use of the Office of Internal Oversight Services in strengthening accountability<sup>120</sup>, a culture of accountability in ensuring the safety of all staff members<sup>121</sup>, accountability in the administration of justice,<sup>122</sup> in procurement reform<sup>123</sup> and criminal accountability of officials and experts on mission<sup>124</sup>.

42. In 2000, a Secretary-General's bulletin established an Accountability Panel<sup>125</sup> in order "to ensure that the Secretariat addresses the findings of its oversight review bodies from a systemic perspective, and to reinforce existing accountability mechanisms"<sup>126</sup>. In 2005, the Accountability Panel was replaced with the Management Performance Board.<sup>127</sup> In his 2005 report on measures to strengthen accountability at the United Nations, the Secretary-General indicated that the Management Performance Board had "clearer and better defined" terms of reference and responsibilities than the Accountability Panel<sup>128</sup>. He also reported a number of additional measures designed to support accountability at the United Nations, namely: the establishment of a Senior Management Group in order to improve executive-level decision-making; the introduction of new mandatory induction programmes for senior officials; the development of new performance indicators; and the enhancement of the Performance Appraisal System<sup>129</sup>.

43. With regard to accountability arising from financial liabilities, an administrative instruction was promulgated in 2004, which sets out the conditions under which staff

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> See, e.g., A/RES/59/266, sect. 1, para. 8, A/RES/60/283, sect. I, para. 2, and A/RES/61/244, sect. XII.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> A/RES/55/221.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> A/RES/57/287 C.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> A/RES/57/155.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> A/RES/59/283, A/RES/61/261, A/RES/62/228.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> A/RES/61/246, A/RES/62/269.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup> A/RES/61/29, A/RES/62/63, A/RES/63/119, A/RES/64/110, A/RES/65/20, A/RES/66/93.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> ST/SGB/2000/14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> Ibid., sect. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> A/60/312. See also ST/SGB/2005/13.

 $<sup>^{128}</sup>$  A/60/312, para. 5.

 $<sup>^{129}</sup>$  The new ePAS formal tool for accountability represented an enhancement on the Performance Appraisal System as set out in ST/AI/2002/3.

members may be required to reimburse the organization, either partially or fully, for any financial loss suffered by the United Nations as a result of that staff member's gross negligence or of his or her violation of any regulation, rule or administrative instruction <sup>130</sup>. This instruction implemented the proposal initially presented to the General Assembly in 2000<sup>131</sup> and the Assembly reiterated its approval for such a policy in 2003<sup>132</sup>.

44. In 2002, the Office of the Ombudsman<sup>133</sup> was established as an informal system for the resolution of conflicts. In 2009, a new two-tiered formal system of administration of justice, with a trial and an appellate jurisdiction, was also established<sup>134</sup>.

45. The Assembly requested the Secretary-General in 2009<sup>135</sup> to make clear proposals on greater accountability mechanisms, including, *inter alia*, clear parameters for their application and the instruments for their rigorous enforcement<sup>136</sup>. The subsequent changes are under the purview of the next report.

46. In 2005, the Secretary-General, as requested by the Assembly<sup>137</sup>, presented his proposals for the creation of an Ethics Office<sup>138</sup>, which was established "for the purpose of securing the highest standard of integrity of staff members"<sup>139</sup>. The General Assembly welcomed the establishment of the Ethics Office<sup>140</sup>, and requested the Secretary-General to finalize a system-wide code of ethics for all staff members. In his bulletin of 2005, the Secretary-General outlined the terms of reference for the Office, namely: administering the Organization's financial disclosure programme; protecting staff members against retaliation for reporting misconduct and for cooperating with duly authorized audits or investigations; providing confidential advice and guidance to staff members on ethical issues and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> ST/AI/2004/3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> A/54/793.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> A/RES/57/307.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> ST/SGB/2002/12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> A/RES/61/261, A/RES/62/228, A/RES/63/253, A/RES/64/119.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> A/RES/63/276.

 $<sup>^{136}</sup>$  In 2010, the Secretary-General presented his report entitled "Towards an accountability system in the United Nations Secretariat" (A/64/640).

 $<sup>^{137}</sup>$  A/RES/60/1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> A/60/568 & Corr.1, 2.

<sup>139</sup> ST/SGB/2005/22.

<sup>140</sup> A/RES/60/254.

developing standards, training and education on ethics issues<sup>141</sup>. A separate bulletin was promulgated in 2007 to provide governing principles applicable to Ethics Offices of separately administered organs and programmes of the United Nations<sup>142</sup>. Under this bulletin, an Ethics Committee was established to draft "a unified set of standards and policies of the United Nations Secretariat and of the separately administered organs and programmes"<sup>143</sup>. This Committee assisted the Secretary-General in drafting a system-wide Code of Ethics for United Nations Personnel, which contained 12 core values and principles<sup>144</sup> on the professional conduct expected of all staff members in the performance of their official duties.

47. In 2008, OLA reviewed a request for advice regarding the rights and obligations of staff representatives as compared with other staff members<sup>145</sup>. The specific issue at stake was whether staff representatives were exempt from the obligations to report misconduct and to abide by the confidentiality requirement in investigations, given their status as staff representatives exercising their right to freedom of expression and association. Based on its analysis of the applicable Staff Regulations and Rules, administrative issuances, and the jurisprudence of the former UN Administrative Tribunal and of the International Labour Organization Administrative Tribunal, OLA determined that staff representatives do not enjoy an exemption from the duties and obligations of other staff members by virtue of their status as staff representatives and their right to freedom of expression and association. Accordingly, the OLA concluded that staff representatives were "not exempt from the obligations to report misconduct and to comply with the confidentiality provisions applicable to investigations" <sup>146</sup>.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup> See ST/SGB/2005/22. The Secretary-General released another bulletin in 2005 entitled "Protection against retaliation for reporting misconduct and for cooperating with duly authorized audits or investigations," which included provisions on: reporting misconduct through internal and external mechanisms; reporting retaliation to the Ethics Office; the protection of the person who suffered retaliation; action against the person who engaged in retaliation; and on the prohibition of retaliation against outside parties (ST/SGB/2005/21)..

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> ST/SGB/2007/11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup> Ibid., sect. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> Annex to A/64/316,.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup> United Nations Judicial Yearbook, 2008, p. 450.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup> Ibid., para. 14, p. 453.

b. Responsibility to the Secretary-General in the performance of duties

48. Certain amendments to the Staff Regulations and Rules in 2009 concerned the responsibility of staff members to seek authorization from the Secretary-General in the course of their duties. Some of the revisions, for instance, called for the staff member to seek authorisation to accept any honour, decoration, favour, gift or remuneration from any

Government or non-Government source<sup>147</sup>.

49. The Assembly also addressed the Secretary-General's power to delegate authority. The Assembly emphasized that any delegation of authority "should be in accordance with the Charter and the regulations and rules of the Organization and should entail clear lines of authority and accountability as well as improvements in the administration of justice, taking into account the central role played by the Office of Human Resources Management in setting the policies and guidelines in respect of the human resources management of the Organization and monitoring their observance and implementation" The Assembly also requested the Secretary-General to ensure that well designed mechanisms of accountability were in place before delegating authority to programme managers in an effort to streamline management.

c. Acceptance of instructions from external authorities

50. Staff Regulation 1.2 (d) states that:

"In the performance of their duties staff members shall neither seek nor accept instructions from any Government or from any other source external to the Organization."

<sup>147</sup> ST/SGB/2009/6, Staff Rule 1.2 (j), (k) and (l).

<sup>148</sup> A/RES/55/258, sect. VII, para. 4.

<sup>149</sup> See, e.g., A/RES/53/221, sect. IV, A/RES/55/258, sect. VII, and A/RES/53/221, sect. IV.

- 51. Staff Rule 1.2(i)<sup>150</sup> and Staff Rule 5.3(a)(v)<sup>151</sup> remained unchanged in the 2009 revisions and are recalled here for their continued bearing on the question of external influence.
- 52. The International Civil Service Commission, in the ICSC 2001 standards of conduct, which were welcomed by the General Assembly in its resolution 56/244, noted that:

"... international civil servants ... should not seek nor should they accept instructions from any Government, person or entity external to the organization. It cannot be too strongly stressed that international civil servants are not, in any sense, representatives of Governments or other entities, nor are they proponents of their policies. This applies equally to those on secondment from Governments and to those whose services have been made available from elsewhere. International civil servants should be constantly aware that through their allegiance to the Charter and the corresponding instruments of each organization, member States and their representatives are committed to respect this independent status" 152.

#### 53. The ICSC 2001 standards of conduct also stated the following:

"In providing services to a legislative or representative body, it goes without saying that international civil servants should serve only the interests of the organization. It would not be appropriate for international civil servants to prepare for government or other international civil service representatives any speeches, arguments or proposals on questions under discussion. It could, however, be quite appropriate to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> "Staff members shall not seek to influence Member States, principal or subsidiary organs of the United Nations or expert groups in order to obtain a change from a position or decision taken by the Secretary-General, including decisions relating to the financing of Secretariat programmes or units, or in order to secure support for improving their personal situation or the personal situation of other staff members or for blocking or reversing unfavourable decisions regarding their status or their colleagues' status."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> "Special leave shall not be authorized for governmental service in a political office, in a diplomatic or other representational post or for the purpose of performing any functions that are incompatible with the staff member's continued status as an international civil servant. In exceptional circumstances, special leave without pay may be granted to a staff member who is requested by his or her Government to render temporary services involving functions of a technical nature".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifty-sixth Session, Supplement No. 30 (A/56/30), annex II, para. 8.

provide factual information, technical advice or assistance with such tasks as the preparation of draft resolutions"<sup>153</sup>.

54. Moreover, upon accepting employment with the United Nations, all staff members must agree to sign a declaration on how they will conduct their functions as an international civil servant. From the very earliest stage, staff members agree to

"...regulate... (their)...conduct with the interests of the United Nations only in view, and not to seek or accept instructions in regard to the performance of...(their)...duties from any Government or other source external to the Organization". 154

Thus, the interests of the Organization must prevail over all other interests and must be the only consideration for all staff members when discharging their functions.

- d. Discretion in the performance of official duties
- 55. In the ICSC 2001 standards of conduct<sup>155</sup>, it is noted that:

"The disclosure of confidential information may seriously jeopardize the efficiency and credibility of an organization. International civil servants are responsible for exercising discretion in all matters of official business. They must not divulge confidential information without authorization. Nor should international civil servants use information that has not been made public and is known to them by virtue of their official position to private advantage. These are obligations that do not cease upon separation from service. It is necessary for organizations to maintain guidelines for the use and protection of confidential information, and it is equally necessary for such guidelines to keep pace with developments in communications technology. It is understood that these provisions do not affect established practices governing the exchange of information between the secretariats and member States,

<sup>154</sup> Staff Regulation 1.1(b).

<sup>153</sup> Ibid., para. 24.

<sup>155</sup> A/RES/56/244.

which ensure the fullest participation of member States in the life and work of the organizations<sup>20,156</sup>.

56. The discretion required of all international civil servants was laid out in full in the above standards with little leeway for any disclosure of information without prior authorisation.

57. In 2007, the Secretary-General promulgated a bulletin on "information sensitivity, classification and handling"<sup>157</sup>. The bulletin provided that the work of the UN should be "open and transparent"<sup>158</sup> but also stipulated that in instances where "disclosure of the information may be detrimental to the proper functioning of the United Nations or the welfare and safety of its staff or third parties or violate the Organization's legal obligations"<sup>159</sup> the classification of "confidential" or "strictly confidential" must be employed to ensure that such information is not compromised<sup>160</sup>.

58. The bulletin also set out the minimum standards to be maintained when a staff member handles classified material<sup>161</sup> and for when such material can be destroyed<sup>162</sup>. Furthermore, on the question of information technology, it was stipulated that heads of departments and offices must ensure that all automated information systems handling classified material must have "controls that both prevent access by unauthorized persons, and ensure the integrity of the information"<sup>163</sup>.

 $<sup>^{156}</sup>$  Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifty-sixth Session, Supplement No. 30 (A/56/30), annex II, para. 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> ST/SGB/2007/6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>158</sup> Ibid., sect. 1.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>159</sup> Ibid., sect. 1.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> Ibid., sect. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> Ibid., sect. 5.1. The bulletin also noted that heads of departments or offices have the authority to put in place stricter controls over the handling of classified information in so long as such controls are consistent with ST/SGB/2007/6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> Ibid., sect. 5.5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> Ibid., sect. 5.4.

59. An administrative instruction promulgated in 2000 also explained how a staff member must exercise the "utmost discretion" when undertaking any agreed outside activity<sup>164</sup>.

60. The requirement of discretion in the performance of official duties is codified in the Staff Regulations and Rules. Although the relevant provisions remained unchanged throughout the period under review, they are of direct importance to the present topic. In particular, Staff Regulation 1.2 (i) requires staff members to "exercise the utmost discretion with regard to all matters of official business" and Staff Regulation 1.2 (g) prohibits staff members from using the information they have acquired from their official functions for private gain. Furthermore, the declaration signed upon becoming a staff member reiterates the necessity for all staff members to exercise discretion as an international civil servant 166.

#### e. Impartiality in the performance of official duties

61. Staff Regulation 1.1 (b) sets out the declaration which must be taken by all staff members when commencing employment with the United Nations. In this declaration, they promise not to "seek or accept instructions ... from any Government or other source external to the organization". In 2009, Staff Rule 1.1(b) was added to allow staff members to liaise with Governments pursuant to an agreement between the United Nations and the concerned Government<sup>167</sup>.

62. In a guide released in 2007<sup>168</sup>, the Secretary-General noted that instances such as accepting honours, gifts and remuneration, favouritism, and outside employment can present potential conflicts of interest and emphasized the importance of preserving the independence and impartiality of official decision-making at all times. In a comprehensive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> ST/AI/2000/13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> For further discussion, see Repertory 9, para. 45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> Staff Regulation 1.1 (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> Staff Rule 1.1 (b): "The declaration administered under staff regulation 1.1 (b) shall not prevent the close collaboration of staff with a Government pursuant to an agreement between the Government and the United Nations".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> "Working together, putting ethics to work" (2007).

report on the United Nations procurement activities <sup>169</sup>, the Secretary-General stated that a conflict of interest in procurement and contracting activities "undermines adherence to ethical behaviour and the staff member's duties as an international civil servant" <sup>170</sup>. In calling for the procurement system to be, *inter alia*, more impartial, the Assembly reiterated <sup>171</sup> its requests for the Secretary-General to submit proposals on possible amendments to the Financial Regulations and Rules and the Staff Regulations and Rules of the United Nations to address issues of potential conflict of interest<sup>172</sup>. A Secretary-General's Bulletin promulgated on 26 December 2006 on post-employment restrictions <sup>173</sup> restricted former staff members who have participated in the procurement process from, *inter alia*, seeking or accepting employment, compensation or financial benefit from any United Nations contractor or vendor within a specified time <sup>174</sup>. It also provided, *inter alia*, that current staff members participating in the procurement process must refrain from soliciting or accepting any promise or offer of future employment from any contractor or vendor of goods or services, which conducts business with the Organization or seeks to do so<sup>175</sup>.

63. In this regard, in a legal opinion issued by OLA on the possible revision of the Staff Regulations and Rules to address potential conflicts of interest<sup>176</sup>, OLA reiterated that the only sanctions that can be imposed by the Organization on former staff members in breach of the obligation relating to confidentiality and 'discretion with regard to all matters of official business' appears to be an indication in their official status file. OLA also noted that it may be possible to ban any company employing such staff from any dealings with the UN for a specified period of time<sup>177</sup>. As for the proposals of revisions to the staff regulations and rules, OLA noted that in principle the United Nations could introduce a requirement that a former staff member must undertake not to seek or accept employment with a United Nations contractor within a period of one year following separation from the Organization,

<sup>169</sup> A/62/525.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> Ibid., para. 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> See A/RES/52/226, A/RES/54/14, A/RES/60/266, A/RES/61/246 and A/RES/61/276.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> A/RES/62/269, para. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> ST/SGB/2006/15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> Ibid., sect. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> Ibid., sect. 2.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> United Nations Juridical Yearbook, 2000, p. 341.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> Ibid., p. 343.

but that in practice it is unclear whether the introduction of such requirement would be effective in avoiding issues relating to conflicts of interest<sup>178</sup>. OLA also noted that the proposal to ban consideration of bids or proposals from suppliers that employ former staff members engaged in procurement-related activities would be more easily enforced in principle but ineffective in those instances where a former staff member is not dealing with his or her former colleagues, and thus, could not be identified. OLA concluded that, if the conflict of interest issue in respect of procurement officers is going to be addressed, it would be most appropriately addressed in an administrative instruction. OLA advised that these subsidiary rules, which would refer to the Staff Regulations and Rules, could be formulated to address the particular issues of conflict of interest which arise in relation to procurement officers.

64. In a 2001 opinion, OLA also advised that, in view of the increasing number of cooperation arrangements between the United Nations and the private sector involving, *inter alia*, voluntary contributions from private sector partners, issues relating to acceptance of voluntary contributions from the private sector may be raised more frequently, and in such cases concerned organizations may wish to establish more specific rules or guidelines on this issue<sup>179</sup>. One of the general principles included in the guidelines issued by the Secretary-General in 2000<sup>180</sup> on "Cooperation between the United Nations and the business community" is "no unfair advantage", stating, *inter alia*, that "cooperation should not imply endorsement or preference of a particular business entity or its products or services"<sup>181</sup>.

65. Staff Regulation 1.2 concerns basic rights and obligations of staff members, including the issue of conflict of interest. This regulation remained unchanged in the period under review. Sections 21 and 22 of the Standards of Conduct for the international civil service address avoidance of assisting private bodies or persons in their dealings with the United Nations where this might lead to actual or perceived conflict. Staff rule 1.2 (p) on disclosing any financial interest related to a profit-making business or other concern was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup> Ibid., p. 344.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> United Nations Juridical Yearbook, 2001, p. 415.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> A/56/323, annex III.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> Ibid., sect. IV, para. 14(d).

amended slightly in 2009. Where it originally requested disclosure of the "measure" of that interest, it now sought disclosure in total.

66. Other administrative instructions and Secretary General's bulletins addressed issues relating to staff members' engagement in outside activities<sup>182</sup>, whistle-blower protection<sup>183</sup> and financial disclosure<sup>184</sup>. Furthermore, the Assembly repeatedly stressed the need for impartiality and fairness in internal investigations<sup>185</sup> and recognized that a transparent, impartial, independent and effective system of administration of justice is important for the success of human resources reform<sup>186</sup>.

67. In response to a request for advice on the legality of monitoring telephone conversations between procurement staff and vendors<sup>187</sup>, OLA examined the United Nations legal regime as well as that of the International Labour Organization and of various jurisdictions around the world. OLA concluded that, under the current United Nations framework, the investigation and monitoring of staff members' telephone conversations is permitted only under certain circumstances and may continue only so long as is reasonably necessary to ascertain whether such suspected misconduct has occurred<sup>188</sup>. OLA noted that if it was decided, as a matter of policy, to institute such phone monitoring then it would be necessary to promulgate a Secretary-General's Bulletin that clearly sets forth all policy parameters and detailed modalities of such monitoring. OLA opined that it would be imperative "to obtain employee and third-party consent ... in order to protect the organization from legal challenges and potential claims" 189.

68. Regarding the issue of participation by non-United Nations officials in evaluations for procurement exercises undertaken by the United Nations, OLA advised that "the cooperation with officials of donor or beneficiary Governments in carrying out procurement

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> ST/AI/2000/13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> ST/SGB/2005/21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> ST/SGB/2006/6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> A/RES/59/287, para. 2, and A/RES/62/247, para. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> A/RES/59/283, A/RES/61/261.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> United Nations Juridical Yearbook, 2007, p. 435.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> Ibid., p. 442.

activities, including evaluations, is specifically permitted under the Financial Regulations and Rules. However, any such cooperation between United Nations staff members and officials of donor or beneficiary Governments must be authorized by the General Assembly and may be subject to an appropriate agreement with such Government<sup>3190</sup>.

69. In a 2009 case, the Administrative Tribunal<sup>191</sup> considered whether discussing a bid in a procurement process with a Member State after that information was in the public domain was to be deemed misconduct and inconsistent with the standards of conduct expected of international civil servants. It was the view of the Tribunal that "even if the information on the bidding process was already in the public domain ... this did not ... exonerate the Applicant from the charge that he had breached the procurement rules in respect of "absolute impartiality"<sup>192</sup>. The Tribunal found that:

"Providing information prior to the award to any person who is not an official of the United Nations is a breach of the rules" 193.

70. The Tribunal went on to take consideration of Article 100 of the UN Charter and of Staff Regulations 1.1 and 1.4 and said that the Applicant's breach of the Procurement Rules was not simply "technical" but "substantial" However, the Tribunal also noted that "[w]hile the tribunal cannot – and will not – condone impropriety in the procurement process, it is fully aware that termination for serious misconduct is invariably not imposed absent the presence of fraud or the motive of personal gain" 195.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup> United Nations Juridical Yearbook, 2007, p. 447

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>191</sup> AT/DEC/1414.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>192</sup> Ibid., sect. XXI.

<sup>193</sup> Ibid., sect. XXI.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>194</sup> Ibid., sect. XXIII.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> AT/DEC/1414, sect. XXIV.

f. Integrity in the performance of official duties

71. Integrity was named as a core value of the United Nations by the Secretary-General in a bulletin released in 1999<sup>196</sup>. During the period under review, the Assembly reiterated several times that the Secretary-General has the duty to ensure that the highest standard of integrity must serve as one of the paramount considerations in the employment of staff<sup>197</sup>, in accordance with Article 101, paragraph 3, of the Charter of the United Nations. The Assembly also stressed the importance of integrity in the system of administration of justice<sup>198</sup> and in procurement reform and outsourcing<sup>199</sup>. The Assembly further affirmed that the United Nations Common System was the best instrument to secure staff members of the highest standards of integrity for the international civil service<sup>200</sup>.

72. The ICSC 2001 standards of conduct note that "international civil servants do not have the freedom of private persons to take sides or to express their convictions publicly on controversial matters, either individually or as members of a group"<sup>201</sup>. The Assembly had stated previously that these standards would ensure that all staff members uphold the principle of integrity<sup>202</sup>.

73. In a bulletin promulgated in 2005, the Secretary-General announced the introduction of a mandatory Integrity Awareness Initiative for all staff members. This was "designed to raise staff members' level of awareness of the core values of integrity, professionalism and respect for diversity, and to provide them with guidance about appropriate actions to take, people to consult, and/or materials to access if they suspect threats to integrity in the work of the Organization"<sup>203</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup> ST/SGB/1999/15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup> A/RES/57/305, A/RES/60/238, A/RES/63/250.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>198</sup> A/RES/57/307.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>199</sup> A/RES/55/232, A/RES/59/289, A/RES/61/246.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup> A/RES/55/223, A/RES/59/268.

 $<sup>^{201}</sup>$  Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifty-sixth Session, Supplement No. 30 (A/56/30), annex II, para. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>202</sup> A/RES/55/223, sect. B.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> ST/SGB/2005/17, sect. 2.1.

74. One aspect of integrity is the requirement not to abuse the power or authority of one's position with the United Nations. In two cases brought before the former UN Administrative Tribunal, the issue of abuse of power or authority arose. In the first case<sup>204</sup>, a staff member had misused the United Nations Laissez-Passer for personal travel and to obtain a travel visa. The Tribunal ruled that it was the right of the Organisation "to take such alleged violation of the rules governing the use of the UNLP with the utmost seriousness and to impose the ultimate sanction on violators"<sup>205</sup>. The applicant lost his appeal against the decision to terminate his services, which had also been based on his poor performance. In an opinion released in 2003 OLA had underlined that UNLPs are used in connection with official travel only and may not be used for private purposes<sup>206</sup>. In another case in the Tribunal related to an abuse of power<sup>207</sup>, a staff member was accused of, inter alia, using United Nations letterhead to make a request for a personal travel visa. The Tribunal said that "even if intent to commit fraud would be difficult to establish, mere utilization of the Organization's letterhead for personal gain and the intention behind such conduct are in themselves sufficient to constitute abuse of office"208. However, on the basis of the facts of that case, the Tribunal was not convinced that the act amounted to serious misconduct warranting summary dismissal.

75. In 2003, the Assembly called on the Secretary-General to put in place "clear and consistent procedures" for the reporting and investigation of sexual exploitation and related offences in all United Nations peacekeeping missions and humanitarian operations<sup>209</sup>. In his subsequent bulletin<sup>210</sup>, the Secretary-General described the term "sexual exploitation" as encompassing "any actual or attempted abuse of a position of vulnerability, differential power, or trust, for sexual purposes, including, but not limited to, profiting monetarily, socially or politically from the sexual exploitation of another"<sup>211</sup>. The bulletin applies to all staff members and United Nations forces conducting operations under United Nations

<sup>204</sup> Judgement No. 1181, 30 September 2004.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup> Ibid., sect. IX.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>206</sup> United Nations Judicial Yearbook, 2003, p. 524.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> Judgement No. 1289.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> Ibid., sect. VIII.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> A/RES/57/306.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> ST/SGB/2003/13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup> Ibid., sect. 1.

command and control. Its rules were also made applicable to experts on mission, such as United Nations police and military observers, consultants, contractors, and United Nations Volunteers through the legal instruments governing their relationship with the United Nations<sup>212</sup>. Pursuant to section 6.1 of this bulletin, the United Nations General Conditions of Contract were subsequently amended to ensure that outside entities cooperating with the United Nations also adhere to the obligations set out in the Secretary-General's bulletin.

76. In 2005, the Secretary-General introduced a mandatory learning programme in his bulletin on the "Prevention of workplace harassment, sexual harassment and abuse of authority," which was designed to strengthen the accountability of staff members and to "rais[e] awareness among them of their roles and responsibilities for creating and maintaining a workplace free of harassment, sexual harassment and abuse of authority". A more in-depth issuance on discrimination, harassment, including sexual harassment, and abuse of authority, including the necessary preventative and corrective measures, was promulgated in 2008<sup>214</sup>.

77. In one case, the former UN Administrative Tribunal found that by viewing pornographic movies and other media and by engaging in "sexually lewd and explicit" conduct, the staff member's behaviour constituted a serious violation of the Organization's rules, which was not "befitting an international civil servant who is expected to act with the highest standards of integrity and dignity"<sup>215</sup>. The Tribunal also said that managers are expected to be held to a higher standard of knowledge of these rules and policies in order to lead by example<sup>216</sup>.

78. The UN Dispute Tribunal further emphasized the importance of staff members' integrity in at least three cases during the period under review. Firstly, the UN Dispute Tribunal upheld the decision to summarily dismiss a staff member who had admitted to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup> See A/60/19, para. 65, and A/61/645, para. 40.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>213</sup> ST/SGB/2005/20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>214</sup> ST/SGB/2008/5.

 $<sup>^{215}</sup>$  Judgement No. 1299, 29 September 2006, sect. VIII.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>216</sup> Ibid.

participating in a visa fraud scheme<sup>217</sup>. Secondly, the UN Dispute Tribunal also confirmed the summary dismissal of a staff member for diverting fuel for his personal use, falsifying official records to conceal the diversion and ordering staff members to engage in the falsification of records<sup>218</sup>. Thirdly, the UN Dispute Tribunal upheld the summary dismissal of a staff member on the basis that he had submitted false information and not alerted the Administration to this fact when offered the opportunity. The UN Dispute Tribunal opined that such misconduct constituted a breach of the staff member's duty to uphold the highest standards of integrity<sup>219</sup>.

- g. Adherence to the principles of equality and non-discrimination in the performance of official duties
- 79. In the ISCS 2001 standards of conduct, the International Civil Service Commission makes frequent references to the necessity for all international civil servants to respect the equal rights of all. In particular, they note that:

"Tolerance and understanding are basic human values. They are essential for international civil servants, who must respect all persons equally, without any distinction whatsoever. This respect fosters a climate and a working environment sensitive to the needs of all. To achieve this in multicultural setting calls for a positive affirmation going well beyond passive acceptance". 220

80. The explicit call for gender equality was also referred to as one of the main tenets of the Charter by the ICSC 2001 standards of conduct<sup>221</sup>. For a more detailed overview of the evolution of gender balance priorities, one can look at the calls from the Assembly during

Copyright © United Nations

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>217</sup> UNDT Judgment No. 2009/006 (Manokhin).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup> UNDT Judgment No. 2009/009 (Kouka).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>219</sup> UNDT Judgment No. 2009/091 (Coulibaly).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifty-sixth Session, Supplement No. 30 (A/56/30), annex II, para. 6. See also paras. 3, 13 and 36. <sup>221</sup> Ibid., para. 14.

the period under review<sup>222</sup>. In particular, in 2001, the Assembly urged the Secretary-General to achieve the goal of 50/50 gender distribution<sup>223</sup>. In 2005, the Assembly reaffirmed this goal<sup>224</sup>, and expressed concern with the low proportion of women in the Secretariat<sup>225</sup> whilst requesting that the Secretary-General increase efforts to develop and implement recruitment targets and make the best use of departmental focal points<sup>226</sup>. Similar concerns were expressed in 2007 and 2009<sup>227</sup>.

81. In its resolution 55/258 of 14 June 2001, the General Assembly reiterated that "the recruitment, appointment and promotion of staff shall be made without distinction as to race, sex or religion, in accordance with principles of the Charter and the provisions of the Staff Regulations and Rules of the United Nations"<sup>228</sup>. The Assembly requested that the Secretary-General conduct an inspection through the Office of Internal Oversight Services on the issue of possible discrimination due to nationality, race, sex, religion and language in recruitment, promotion and placement<sup>229</sup>. In the report requested by the Assembly, OIOS concluded that its new analysis did "not reveal a systematic and consistent pattern of preference or exclusion that impaired equal opportunity in recruitment, placement or promotion for any given region over the past six years"<sup>230</sup>. In terms of gender equality, the inspection revealed how "disparities continue to exist at the higher grades"<sup>231</sup>. Finally, OIOS welcomed the overhaul of the staff selection system<sup>232</sup>.

82. Indeed, the new staff selection system, introduced in May 2002<sup>233</sup>, required all heads of department and office to certify that they have taken into account the Organization's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> A/RES/55/258, sect. IV, para. 7, and sect. XIV, A/RES/57/305, sect. II, paras. 11, 40 and 41, A/RES/59/266, sect. I, para. 9, sect. IV, A/RES/61/244, sect. II, paras. 2, 5, 8 and 10, and sect. XI, A/RES/63/250, sect. III, para. 2, sect. V, paras. 1 and 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>223</sup> A/RES/55/258, sect. XIV, para. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>224</sup> A//RES/59/266, sect. VI, para. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup> Ibid., para. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>226</sup> Ibid., para. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>227</sup> A/RES/61/244, sect. X, and A/RES/63/250, sect. X.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>228</sup> A/RES/55/258, sect. IV, para. 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>229</sup> A/RES/55/258, sect. IV, para. 23.

 $<sup>^{230}</sup>$  A/56/956.

<sup>231</sup> Ibid.

 $<sup>^{232}\,\</sup>mathrm{A}/56/956$  , summary, paras. 5 and 93.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>233</sup> ST/AI/2002/4.

human resources objectives and targets, especially with regard to geography and gender<sup>234</sup>. Furthermore, in the Galaxy e-staffing system, in place at the time, the IT tool was enhanced to include a special feature to highlight a candidate from unrepresented and underrepresented Member States.

83. The Assembly continued to request that the Secretary-General take due regard of the principle of equitable geographical distribution in the recruitment and placement of all staff<sup>235</sup>. In particular, in 2005, the Assembly called for greater measures to "improve the situation of unrepresented and underrepresented Member States and of those in danger of becoming underrepresented under the system of desirable ranges"<sup>236</sup>. In that regard, the Secretary-General was authorised, during a trial period, to establish a special roster of candidates from unrepresented and underrepresented Member States for a number of posts at the P-4 and P-5 levels only, until such Member States reached the desirable ranges<sup>237</sup>. The Secretary-General had proposed this recruitment procedure as a "fast-track" approach in line with the overall principles and procedures of the staff selection system<sup>238</sup>. The Assembly welcomed the continuing efforts being made in meeting the desirable ranges<sup>239</sup> but requested that heightened efforts be made by setting new targets to be achieved, to the extent possible<sup>240</sup>.

84. In 2003, the Secretary-General offered more flexible working arrangements with the objective to achieve a better balance between the professional and personal lives of the staff members of the Secretariat. Four options were created for staff members, at the discretion of their heads of department or office<sup>241</sup>, as it had been acknowledged that more flexibility in working arrangements was an essential tool for attracting and retaining quality staff, in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> Ibid., Annex 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>235</sup> A/RES/55/258, sect. IV (8), A/RES/57/305, sect. II (8), A/RES/59/266, sect. I (9) and sect. IV, A/RES/61/244, sect. I (2), II (1, 3, 5, 6) and X, A/RES/63/250, sect. III (1, 2), V (2) and IX.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>236</sup> A/RES/59/266, sect. IV, para. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup> Ibid., sect. IV, para. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>238</sup> A/59/264, paras. 21 and 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>239</sup> A/RES/61/244, sect. X, para. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>240</sup> Ibid., sect. X, para. 12, "reduce the number of unrepresented and underrepresented Member States in the Secretariat by 20 per cent by 2008 and by 30 per cent by 2010, compared to the level in 2006". <sup>241</sup> ST/SGB/2003/4.

particular women<sup>242</sup>. Another work-life policy introduced was the Secretary-General's bulletin on breastfeeding in 2003<sup>243</sup>.

85. In 2008, the Secretary-General promulgated a new bulletin prohibiting any form of discrimination, harassment, including sexual harassment, and abuse of authority. This bulletin superseded and abolished the much shorter issuances from 1992 on the "promotion of equal treatment of men and women in the Secretariat and prevention of sexual harassment" and from 1992 on "procedures for dealing with sexual harassment" The new bulletin centered on the fact that international civil servants must adhere to the principles of equality and non-discrimination in performance of their official duties:

"In their interactions with others, all staff members are expected to act with tolerance, sensitivity and respect for differences. Any form of prohibited conduct in the workplace or in connection with work is a violation of these principles and may lead to disciplinary action, whether the prohibited conduct takes place in the workplace, in the course of official travel or an official mission, or in other settings in which it may have an impact on the workplace."

86. The bulletin goes on to set out the duties of staff members and the specific duties of managers, supervisors and heads of department/office/mission in ensuring that staff members do not engage in or condone the prohibited behaviour and that appropriate preventative measures are taken. The new bulletin also explains the extensive informal and formal procedures, which can be initiated when individuals believe that they are victims of the prohibited conduct<sup>247</sup>. Similar procedures had already been put in place by the 1992 bulletin on "procedures for dealing with sexual harassment". However, under the new bulletin, the procedures can also be used to address allegations of any form of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>242</sup> A/57/387, para. 182.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup> ST/SGB/2003/14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup> ST/SGB/253.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>245</sup> ST/AI/379.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>246</sup> ST/SGB/2008/5, sect. 2.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>247</sup> Ibid., sect. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>248</sup> ST/AI/379.

discrimination, harassment, including sexual harassment, and abuse of authority within the meaning of Section 1 of the bulletin. The new bulletin also incorporated a more advanced system for both informal and formal resolution of the matter. It also established a new monitoring obligation, which is to be implemented through a number of measures, including the establishment of a joint harassment prevention board<sup>249</sup> and the inclusion of information on the Secretary-General's practice in cases "where discrimination, harassment, including sexual harassment, and abuse of authority have been found"<sup>250</sup> in the annual circular informing staff members of the Secretary-General's practice in disciplinary matters.

#### 3. OBLIGATIONS REGARDING PERSONAL CONDUCT

#### a. Conduct in the interests of the United Nations

87. As expressed in Staff Regulation 1.1 (f), the privileges and immunities of the United Nations are conferred in the interests of the Organization and do not furnish any excuse regarding the non-performance of the private obligations of staff. The Secretary-General has the authority to decide on a case-by-case basis whether such immunities exist and whether they are to be waived.

88. An administrative instruction promulgated in 2000 expanded upon the rules regarding the private legal obligations of staff members<sup>251</sup>. This issuance was drafted following the change in the Staff Rules and Regulations in 1999, as requested by the General Assembly in Resolution 52/252 (see the previous study), and to expand upon the provisions contained within the 1999 Secretary-General's bulletin on "family and child support obligations of staff members"<sup>252</sup>. The issuance covered the procedure for staff members on special missions<sup>253</sup> and provided for the procedure to be taken in the event of non-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup> ST/SGB/2008/14 established these boards to ensure "that all staff members of the Secretariat are treated with dignity and respect; and that a workplace free of any form of discrimination, harassment, including sexual harassment, and abuse of authority is maintained", as noted in Section 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>250</sup> ST/SGB/2008/5, sect. 6.6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup> ST/AI/2000/12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>252</sup> ST/SGB/1999/4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>253</sup> ST/AI/2000/12, sect. 3.

compliance with family support court orders<sup>254</sup>. In relation to other private legal obligations, the administrative instruction states that "the Organization's immunity is not intended to derogate from the rights of legitimate claimants"<sup>255</sup>, and that the Organization shall make claimants aware that it requires its staff members to meet their private legal obligations. If a staff member fails to do so, disciplinary action may be initiated. Finally, the administrative instruction set out the order of precedence from which deductions from all final entitlements will be made, including in respect of payment of the staff member's legally established obligations<sup>256</sup>.

89. In a judgement delivered in 2001, the United Nations Administrative Tribunal ruled upon a case where two staff members had entered into arrangements regarding their personal financial affairs, which had resulted in one staff member making allegations of fraud against the other, which the Tribunal found to be unsupported<sup>257</sup>. The Tribunal stated that a personal matter reflecting adversely on the Organization may be the subject of disciplinary proceedings but that the Staff Regulations and Rules principally address conduct related to employment<sup>258</sup>. The personal financial activity in this case was not found to be incompatible with the proper discharge of the staff member's duties, nor did it adversely reflect on her independence or impartiality. In another case, the United Nations Administrative Tribunal found that the Administration had improperly interfered with the staff member's financial obligations to this former spouse, the Tribunal held that "only a court order should get the Administration involved in securing alimony and/or other financial entitlements for an ex-spouse"<sup>259</sup>.

90. In a legal opinion from 2003 OLA commented upon the responsibility of staff members to comply with local laws and to honour their private legal obligations<sup>260</sup>. That opinion stated that the "United Nations has an interest in ensuring that staff members

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>254</sup> Ibid., sect. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>255</sup> Ibid., sect. 5.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>256</sup> Ibid., sect. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>257</sup> Judgement No. 1004, 26 July 2001.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>258</sup> Ibid., sect. VI.

 $<sup>^{259}\,\</sup>mathrm{Judgement}$  No. 1157, 30 January 2004.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>260</sup> United Nations Juridical Yearbook, 2003, p. 536.

respect local laws and honour their private legal obligations"<sup>261</sup>, as is reflected in ST/AI/2000/12.

#### b. Outside professional or financial activities

- 91. An amendment to Staff Regulation 1.2 that widened the scope of financial disclosure obligations was adopted by the General Assembly in order "to enhance the accountability of United Nations staff with respect to ... (the) ... financial accountability of staff involved in the management of the Organization's resources"<sup>262</sup>. The obligations relating to financial disclosure had previously only been applicable to staff members at the Assistant Secretary-General level and above. However, the amendment approved the extension of the financial disclosure requirement to all staff members at the D-1 or L-6 level and above, as well as their spouses and dependant children<sup>263</sup>. Furthermore, the same General Assembly resolution permitted the Secretary-General to require financial disclosure statements from such additional staff as were deemed necessary.
- 92. There were several other new issuances with a direct bearing on the outside professional and financial activities of staff members. Following the decision of the General Assembly, in resolution 52/252, to amend Article 1 of the Staff Regulations and Chapter 1 of the Staff Rules on the Code of Conduct, there was a need for a new administrative instruction on "Outside Activities" which reflected the changes brought on by those revisions<sup>264</sup>.
- 93. A related development was the promulgation of the Secretary-General's bulletin on "Financial disclosure and declaration of interest statements"<sup>265</sup>, which was revised to reflect the changes in the Staff Regulations, as mentioned above.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>261</sup> Ibid., p. 537.

 $<sup>^{262}</sup>$  A/60/365, para. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>263</sup> A/RES/60/238.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup> ST/AI/2000/13. For a detailed look at the revisions, see the Supplement No. 9 of the Repertory of Practice for Article 100, paras. 69-74.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>265</sup> ST/SGB/2006/6.

94. The Secretary-General, as a part of the effort to streamline and improve the decision-making processes at the executive level in the Secretariat, established a Management Committee in 2005<sup>266</sup>. The Management Committee was established to consider internal reform and management-related issues requiring strategic direction from the Secretary-General and to ensure that any findings and recommendations of the Board of Auditors, the Joint Inspection Unit and the Office of Internal Oversight Services would be effectively fed into the executive management processes, and that accepted recommendations would be followed up and implemented in a timely manner. The Management Committee recommended the re-issuance of the 1999 Secretary-General's bulletin on "Financial disclosure statements" to reflect the changes to the financial disclosure regime and the extension of the financial disclosure requirement (as discussed above).

95. Finally, in a case brought before the United Nations Administrative Tribunal<sup>268</sup> the Tribunal noted the failure of a staff member to disclose certain assets in his financial disclosure forms. Noting that the staff member in question had been involved in the review of the system of financial disclosure, the Tribunal rejected the staff member's plea of ignorance regarding the requirements to make financial disclosures. The Tribunal found that the failure to disclose both information on bank accounts and real estate constituted misconduct. Furthermore, the Tribunal did not accept the argument that staff members are not obliged to produce financial records during periods of special leave or when not employed by the Secretariat. The Tribunal stated that the staff member remained bound by the Staff Regulations and Rules during this time. Finally, the Tribunal did not agree that the sanctions proposed by the Joint Disciplinary Committee<sup>269</sup> were disproportionate, as the Applicant had wilfully refused to disclose all information.

 $<sup>^{266}\,</sup>ST/SGB/2005/16$  and ST/SGB/2006/14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>267</sup> ST/SGB/1999/3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>268</sup> Judgement No. 1490, 25 November 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>269</sup> The report recommended a supervisory reprimand and a written censure.

c. Acceptance of gifts, honours or favours

96. A Secretary-General's bulletin promulgated in March 2006<sup>270</sup> provided guidelines for the Organization's acceptance of pro bono goods and services from the private sector and non-governmental organizations<sup>271</sup>. The requirements did not apply to pro bono contributions of which the Organization will not be the ultimate user<sup>272</sup> or to offers of pro bono personnel or so-called gratis personnel<sup>273</sup>. The guidelines provided particulars for a detailed process to be followed in the event of any acceptance of pro-bono contributions, in order to ensure the transparency of procedures<sup>274</sup>. In particular, the bulletin provided:

"The substantive decision on the acceptance of a pro bono contribution shall be taken by the head of the operational department or office, in consultation with the offices typically involved in the process regarding the acceptance of a pro bono contribution, such as the Office of Programme Planning, Budget and Accounts, the Office of Legal Affairs and the Department of Management, or the relevant offices of the separately administered organs and programmes of the United Nations concerned, as appropriate"<sup>275</sup>.

97. The guidelines also provided direction for how to adhere to Article 100 of the UN Charter. Specifically:

"The acceptance of a pro bono contribution should not allow the donor a role in the internal decision-making process, or in any way compromise the integrity or independence of the recipient" 276.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>270</sup> ST/SGB/2006/5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>271</sup> Ibid., para. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>272</sup> Ibid., para. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>273</sup> Ibid., para. 5 (also outlining what criteria are indicative that the offer is not of gratis personnel).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>274</sup> Ibid., paras. 8-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>275</sup> Ibid., para. 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>276</sup> Ibid., para. 16. "Recipient" means the department or office of the United Nations or the separately administered organs or programmes of the United Nations receiving or using the pro bono contribution. Ibid, para. 1.

In that regard, the bulletin specified that the donor should normally cover all of the recipient's costs and liabilities resulting from the acceptance of the pro bono contribution<sup>277</sup> and the contribution should only be accepted pursuant to a formal agreement, as drafted in consultation with OLA<sup>278</sup>.

98. An information circular was released in 2006 to "inform staff members of the Organization's policy on the acceptance of honours, gifts or remuneration from outside sources" This circular was issued in order to assist staff members to remain "independent and impartial" by not accepting "any honour, decoration, favour, gift or remuneration from any Government". Staff Regulation 1.2 (k) had been included in the Staff Regulations in 1998 to avoid "a needlessly unpleasant incident" whereby refusal of a gift in public would cause embarrassment<sup>280</sup>. The information circular also sets out the procedures to be followed for acceptance of items from a non-governmental source, minor gifts of essentially nominal value, academic awards, distinctions and tokens of a commemorative or honorary character, Government or other functions such as meals and diplomatic receptions and accommodation, travel and subsistence allowance.

99. In the changes made to the Staff Rules in 2009, there was some redrafting of the section on the acceptance of gifts or honours. Former Staff Rule 101.2 (n) was deleted<sup>281</sup> as its requirements were covered by Staff Regulations 1.2 (j), (k) and (l). Furthermore, Staff Rule 1.2 (k) was added to reflect what is stated under the Staff Regulations, namely:

"If refusal of an unanticipated honour, decoration, favour or gift from a Government would cause embarrassment to the Organization, the staff member may receive it on behalf of the Organization and then report and entrust it to the Secretary-General, who will either retain it for the Organization or arrange for its disposal for the benefit of the Organization or for a charitable purpose".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>277</sup> Ibid., para. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>278</sup> Ibid., para. 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>279</sup> ST/IC/2006/31, para. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>280</sup> ST/SGB/2002/13, p. 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>281</sup> The Secretary-General may, in exceptional cases, provided that this is in the interest of the United Nations and not incompatible with the staff member's status, authorize a staff member to receive from a non-governmental source an honour, decoration, favour, gift or remuneration other than those referred to in staff rules 101.2 (k) to (m) above.

#### d. Activities connected with the information media

100. In 2000 an administrative instruction was issued to implement Staff Regulation 1.2 and Staff Rules 101.2 (p) to (r), 201.2 (p) to (r), and 301.3 (p) to (r). This instruction, entitled "Outside Activities" clarified the procedures for any dealings with the information media. It expanded upon the Staff Rules to encourage outside activities within the media which would benefit the UN or the achievement of its goals, or develop the professional skills of a staff member<sup>283</sup>. However, permission to engage in outside activities was subject to the requirements that the staff member must avoid any public statement which could "adversely reflect on their status, or on the integrity, independence and impartiality that are required by that status" and that the staff member must use a disclaimer when working with an outside publisher<sup>284</sup>. The administrative instruction allowed for royalties or related payments for the published material to be paid to the staff member, if allowed under local law, but not for any other fee, remuneration or honorarium<sup>285</sup>.

101. In 2006, in order to better inform staff members about the Organization's policy with regard to outside activities (as set forth in Staff Regulations 1.2 (o) and (p), then Staff Rules 101.2 (p) to (s), and ST/AI/2000/13) a new information circular was promulgated on "Outside Activities". Although nothing new in substance was added in relation to the obligations of staff members relating to their involvement in outside activities, including interactions with the information media, the new circular displayed the strong emphasis placed by the administration on adherence to rules relating to outside activities.

102. The guiding provision for all international civil servants when dealing with the media was set out in the ICSC 2001 standards of conduct, which states that:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>282</sup> ST/AI/2000/13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>283</sup> Ibid., sect. 4.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup> Ibid., sect. 4.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>285</sup> Ibid., sect. 4.5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>286</sup> ST/IC/2006/30.

"Openness and transparency in relations with the media are effective means of communicating the organizations' messages, and the organizations should have guidelines and procedures for this purpose. Within that context, the following principles should apply: international civil servants should regard themselves as speaking in the name of their organizations and avoid personal references and views; in no circumstances should they use the media to further their own interests, to air their own grievances, to reveal unauthorized information or to attempt to influence policy decisions facing their organizations." <sup>287</sup>

#### 103. Furthermore:

"The disclosure of confidential information may seriously jeopardize the efficiency and credibility of an organization. International civil servants are responsible for exercising discretion in all matters of official business. They must not divulge confidential information without authorization. Nor should international civil servants use information that has not been made public and is known to them by virtue of their official position to private advantage. These are obligations that do not cease upon separation from service. It is necessary for organizations to maintain guidelines for the use and protection of confidential information, and it is equally necessary for such guidelines to keep pace with developments in communications technology. It is understood that these provisions do not affect established practices governing the exchange of information between the secretariats and member States, which ensure the fullest participation of member States in the life and work of the organizations" 288.

104. Other reforms were undertaken in the period under review touching upon the use of information media. An administrative instruction was issued for the purpose of establishing guidelines for Internet publishing, which, amongst other things, discussed the confidentiality

 $<sup>^{287}</sup>$  Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifty-sixth Session, Supplement No. 30 (A/56/30), annex II, para. 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>288</sup> Ibid., para. 35.

of designated United Nations materials and the privacy of United Nations staff <sup>289</sup>, as well as the issue of copyright for UN materials published on the internet <sup>290</sup>. The issuance explained the need for taglines with the proper attribution to the UN<sup>291</sup> and for requests for reproduction of materials to be considered "on a case-by case basis in accordance with the best interests of the Organization and with specific considerations based on the current guidelines"<sup>292</sup>. Finally, any references to external websites were required to be referenced correctly with, if needed, a disclaimer of United Nations responsibility for or endorsement of any such site or commercial product<sup>293</sup>.

105. A Secretary-General's bulletin was promulgated in 2007 on "Information sensitivity, classification and handling", which sought to ensure the correct classification and secure handling of confidential information entrusted to or originating from the United Nations<sup>294</sup>. The bulletin provided that classified documents are to be handled correctly in accordance with prescribed procedures, especially when their disclosure is likely to "endanger the safety or security of any individual, violate his or her rights or invade his or her privacy" or "prejudice the security or proper conduct of any operation or activity of the United Nations, including any of its peacekeeping operations" or "including any of its peacekeeping operations".

106. In the 2009 revision of the Staff Rules, Staff Rule 1.2 (r) was added and required all staff members to:

"Exercise the utmost discretion in all matters of official business of the Organization. They shall not communicate at any time to any other person, Government or authority external to the United Nations any information known to them by reason of their association with the United Nations which has not been made public, nor engage in any of the following acts, if such act relates to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>289</sup> ST/AI/2001/5, sect. 2.5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>290</sup> Ibid., sect. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>291</sup> Ibid., sect. 5.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>292</sup> Ibid., sect. 5.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>293</sup> Ibid., sect. 5.5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>294</sup> ST/SGB/2007/6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>295</sup> Ibid., sect. 1.2 (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>296</sup> Ibid., sect. 1.2 (c).

purpose, activities or interests of the United Nations, except in the course of their duties or by authorization of the Secretary-General or his designate; nor shall they at any time use such information to private advantage. These obligations do not lapse upon cessation of their services with the United Nations"<sup>297</sup>.

107. This was a significant addition to the rules which underpinned the necessity for discretion in all matters related to the Organization, including in respect of relations with information media.

#### e. Political activities

108. The ICSC 2001 standards of conduct were explicit in setting out the rules regarding the political or religious convictions of staff:

"Impartiality implies tolerance and restraint, particularly in dealing with political or religious convictions. While their personal views remain inviolate, international civil servants do not have the freedom of private persons to take sides or to express their convictions publicly on controversial matters, either individually or as members of a group. This can mean that, in certain situations, personal views should only be expressed with tact and discretion"<sup>298</sup>.

109. The political activities of staff members, regulated in part by Staff Regulation 1.2, were also addressed directly in the administrative instruction on "Outside activities", released in 2000<sup>299</sup>. According to that instruction, staff members may exercise the right to vote as long as their participation in any political activity is consistent with, and does not reflect adversely upon, the independence and impartiality required by their status as international civil servants<sup>300</sup>. The instruction also set the rules by which staff members could become

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>297</sup> ST/SGB/2009/7, Staff Rule 1.2(r).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>298</sup> Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifty-sixth Session, Supplement No. 30 (A/56/30), annex II, para. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>299</sup> ST/AI/2000/13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>300</sup> Ibid., sect. 5.3.

members of a political party or pay a financial contribution to that party<sup>301</sup>. Finally, it noted explicitly that running for or being appointed to political office is not permitted for staff members<sup>302</sup>.

#### f. Criminal activities

### 110. The ICSC 2001 standards of conduct provided that:

"Violations of law can range from serious criminal activities to trivial offences, and organizations may be called upon to exercise judgement in the light of the nature and circumstances of individual cases. A conviction by a national court will usually, although not always, be persuasive evidence of the act for which an international civil servant was prosecuted, and acts that are generally recognized as offences by national criminal laws will normally also be violations of the standards of conduct for the international civil service" 303.

111. In 2005, the Special Committee on Peacekeeping Operations and its Working Group produced a report whereby it reaffirmed that all United Nations employees in peacekeeping operations must act in a manner that "preserves the image, credibility, impartiality and integrity of the United Nations".. Particular mention was made of the increasing number of allegations of sexual misconduct and the Special Committee requested the Secretary-General to present a comprehensive report with recommendations on the issue of sexual exploitation and abuse by military, civilian police and civilian personnel in United Nations peacekeeping missions <sup>304</sup>. On 24 March 2005, the Secretary-General transmitted to the General Assembly the report of his Adviser on a comprehensive strategy to eliminate future sexual exploitation and abuse in United Nations peacekeeping operations <sup>305</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>301</sup> Ibid., sect. 5.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>302</sup> Ibid., sect. 5.5.

 $<sup>^{303}</sup>$  Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifty-sixth Session, Supplement No. 30 (A/56/30), annex II, para. 40.

 $<sup>^{304}</sup>$  Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifty-ninth Session, Supplement No. 19 (A/59/19), paras. 48 and 56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>305</sup> See A/59/710.

112. Later that same year the Assembly affirmed the need for the Organization to adopt a comprehensive strategy to eliminate future sexual exploitation and abuse in United Nations peacekeeping operations and endorsed the recommendation of the Special Committee to establish a group of legal experts to provide advice, in line with the UN Charter, on how to ensure that United Nations staff and experts on mission would never be effectively exempt from the consequences of criminal acts committed at their duty station, nor unjustly penalized<sup>306</sup>.

113. By the subsequent resolution 61/29, the General Assembly established an Ad Hoc Committee for the purpose of considering the report of the group of legal experts<sup>307</sup>.

114. In a note by the Secretariat in 2007, it was recalled that there exists a jurisdictional gap when a crime is committed in a host State but that host State is unable to prosecute an alleged offender or make an offender accountable, in which case there is a need to rely on other States to do so<sup>308</sup>. The Secretariat noted that it cannot hold a person criminally accountable and so "the exercise of criminal jurisdiction remains the responsibility of Member States"<sup>309</sup>, which must ensure that "all United Nations personnel are never effectively exempt from the consequences of criminal acts committed at their duty station, nor unjustly penalized, in accordance with due process"<sup>310</sup>. In considering a case where amnesty from a criminal sentence was sought, the Legal Counsel recommended that a general amnesty not be given to a former staff member, despite it being requested by the government of a Member State where he was incarcerated. The Legal Counsel stated that:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>306</sup> A/RES/59/300, General Assembly Official Records, Fifty-ninth Session, Supplement No. 19, part 2, para. 40 (A/59/19/Rev.1).

 $<sup>^{307}</sup>$  A/RES/61/29, referring to A/RES/59/300. See also "Report of the Ad Hoc Committee on criminal accountability of United Nations officials and experts on mission": Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixty-second Session, Supplement No. 54 (A/62/54).

 $<sup>^{308}</sup>$  A/62/329, para. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>309</sup> Ibid., para. 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>310</sup> Ibid., para. 19.

"Any approval of amnesty in this particular case would be inconsistent with the Organization's policy of promoting the rule of law as well as the principles of accountability and responsibility for serious crimes"<sup>311</sup>.

115. The issue had been discussed in the General Assembly during the 62<sup>nd</sup> session where Member States confirmed that they were "convinced of the need for the United Nations and its Member States to urgently take strong and effective steps to ensure criminal accountability of United Nations officials and experts on mission" This resolution, resolution 62/63, also requested the Secretary-General "to bring credible allegations that reveal that a crime may have been committed by United Nations officials and experts on mission to the attention of States against whose nationals such allegations are made" and strongly urged States "to ensure that crimes by United Nations officials and experts on mission do not go unpunished and that the perpetrators of such crimes are brought to justice" The resolution also encouraged States to cooperate in the exchange of information and the facilitation of the investigation and potential prosecution of United Nations officials and experts on mission who are alleged to have committed crimes of a serious nature, in accordance with the States' domestic laws and applicable United Nations rules and regulations<sup>315</sup>.

116. In the discussions held by the Ad Hoc Committee on criminal accountability of United Nations officials and experts on mission<sup>316</sup>, there was support among delegations for States to cooperate more on "the exchange of information, extradition, the serving of sentences and on other measures to facilitate the effective exercise of criminal jurisdiction"<sup>317</sup>. In 2008 the General Assembly went a step further than its resolution 62/63 and agreed on a more comprehensive resolution on the criminal accountability of United

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>311</sup> United Nations Juridical Yearbook, 2006, p. 540.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>312</sup> A/RES/62/63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>313</sup> Ibid., para. 9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>314</sup> Ibid., para. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>315</sup> Ibid., para. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>316</sup> General Assembly Official Records, Sixty-third Session, Supplement No. 54 (A/63/54).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>317</sup> Ibid., para. 16.

Nations officials and experts on mission<sup>318</sup>. It was concerned with issues of jurisdiction over crimes, committed by United Nations officials and experts on mission, as described above and in A/62/329. As with resolution 62/63, the resolution strongly urged Member States to, *inter alia*, consider establishing jurisdiction, if they had not yet done so, and encouraged them to cooperate with each other and with the United Nations to conduct investigations and prosecute United Nations officials and experts on mission who are alleged to have committed crimes of a serious nature. In addition, the resolution set forth in a more comprehensive manner different mechanisms which Member States could utilize to facilitate such accountability <sup>319</sup>.

117. On the basis of the Secretary-General's zero-tolerance policy on sexual exploitation and abuse<sup>320</sup>, and from the work of the Ad Hoc committee established in 2006<sup>321</sup>, the General Assembly adopted a "United Nations Comprehensive Strategy on Assistance and Support to Victims of Sexual Exploitation and Abuse by United Nations Staff and Related Personnel" in 2007<sup>322</sup>. This strategy was, amongst other things, designed to determine how assistance and support should be provided to those who are complainants, victims and children born as a result of sexual exploitation and abuse by United Nations staff and related personnel. In the letter accompanying the draft strategy, the Secretary-General said that:

"The strategy breaks new ground. It has been widely discussed and draws on a broad variety of experience, research and expertise. Some of its elements were hotly debated among various United Nations entities before consensus was achieved" 323.

118. In the final, shortened strategy the Assembly agreed that:

"The Strategy should be implemented to assist and support complainants, victims and children born as a result of sexual exploitation and abuse by United Nations staff

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>318</sup> A/RES/63/119.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>319</sup> Ibid., para. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>320</sup> See ST/SGB/2003/13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>321</sup> A/RES/61/29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>322</sup> A/RES/62/214.

 $<sup>^{323}</sup>$  A/60/877, p. 2.

and related personnel in a manner appropriate to the relevant circumstances of each location with due respect to host country legislation"<sup>324</sup>.

119. The strategy called for basic assistance and support for all complainants as well as additional assistance in accordance with their individual needs which arise from sexual exploitation and abuse. The strategy called for a United Nations focal point to monitor its implementation.

### C. The obligations of Member States

#### 1. PRIVILEGES AND IMMUNITIES OF THE SECRETARIAT

120. In his 2004 report "Strengthened and unified security management system for the United Nations," the Secretary-General stated:

"...a failure to improve security would leave the Organization facing equally unpalatable alternatives: suspending United Nations activities or continuing them amid unacceptable levels of risk. At the same time, the Organization cannot succumb to a 'bunker mentality' and shrink from the work the world's people expect it to do. A degree of risk cannot be avoided; the challenge is to mitigate it" 325.

121. In the period reviewed in this report, the security of humanitarian and United Nations personnel continued to deteriorate. Staff members increasingly became targets of deliberate attacks with the disturbing trend expanding indiscriminately to all locations. In his reports, the Secretary-General said the threats against United Nations personnel took the form of murder, physical assault and verbal abuse; abductions and hostage-taking; illegal arrests and detentions; storming and occupation of UN premises; and destruction and

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>324</sup> A/RES/62/214, annex, para. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>325</sup> A/59/365 and Corr.1, para. 69.

seizure or looting of UN vehicles and property<sup>326</sup>. Threats to life and of bodily injury were also posed by mines and unexploded ordnances. In addition, staff members were subjected to routine denial of visas and the imposition of travel restrictions based on nationality<sup>327</sup>.

122. The Secretary-General outlined the reasons for such developments<sup>328</sup> and stated that it was his intention to enhance the capacity and the capability of the Organisation to operate in increasingly difficult circumstances to fulfil its mandate.

123. In the face of such increasing threats and attacks, the Security Council and the General Assembly stressed that the primary responsibility for the security and safety of United Nations personnel lay with the host Governments<sup>329</sup>. Member States were therefore strongly urged to take protective measures and to prosecute the perpetrators of such acts<sup>330</sup>. The Security-Council also urged States to fulfil their responsibility to act promptly and effectively in their domestic legal systems by bringing to justice all those responsible for attacks and other acts of violence against United Nations personnel, and to enact effective national legislation as required for that purpose<sup>331</sup>. The Administrative Committee on Coordination also expressed appreciation for the renewed attention being given to staff security issues by the General Assembly, the Security Council and the Economic and Social Council. It also called on all Member States that have not yet done so to ratify the Convention on the Safety of United Nations and Associated Personnel and the statute of the International Criminal Court<sup>332</sup>.

124. In 2000, when reporting on the scope of legal protection under the Convention on the Safety of United Nations and Associated Personnel, the Secretary-General recalled that,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>326</sup> See, e.g., A/59/365, A/60/223, A/61/463, A/62/324, A/63/305, A/64/336.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>327</sup> A/55/494, Yearbook 2000, p. 1346.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>328</sup> Ibid., para. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>329</sup> It must be noted that the Report of the Independent Panel on Safety and Security of UN Personnel and Premises Worldwide (9 June 2008) entitled "Towards a Culture of Security and Accountability" agreed that the responsibility lay with the member States but that the "The central element of the cooperation and trust between the two sides is information sharing about security conditions".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>330</sup> S/PRST/2000/4, see also, A/RES/56/217, A/RES/57/155, CEB/2004/6, A/RES/59/211, A/RES/60/123, A/RES/54/192, A/RES/55/175, A/RES/64/77, A/RES/56/84, and Repertory of Practice, Article 105.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>331</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>332</sup> ACC/2000/4.

in his 1999 report to the Council, he had pointed to the emerging consensus among Member States on the Convention's inadequacies and limitations. He thus recommended the development of a protocol to the Convention extending the scope of its legal protection to cover all United Nations and associated personnel who were not covered in the Convention<sup>333</sup>. Pending the conclusion of such a protocol, the Secretary-General suggested three measures for the Assembly's consideration, which, within the limitations of the Convention, would strengthen its protective regime and give it full effect as follows: (i) a procedure to initiate a "declaration" by the Security Council or the General Assembly, (ii) designating the Secretary-General as the "certifying authority" for purposes of attesting to the fact of a "declaration" or "agreement, and to the status of any United Nations and associated personnel and (ii) to incorporating the key provisions of the 1994 Convention in the status-of-forces or status of mission agreements concluded between the United Nations and States in whose territories peacekeeping operations are deployed<sup>334</sup>. The report also went into some depth on the scope of the Convention and the personnel covered by the Convention by virtue of the definition of "United Nations personnel" and "Associated personnel" contained in the Convention<sup>335</sup>.

125. In response, the Assembly established an Ad Hoc Committee to consider the recommendations made by the Secretary-General<sup>336</sup>. In that same session, the Assembly emphasized the need to give further consideration to the safety and security of locally recruited humanitarian personnel, who account for the majority of casualties<sup>337</sup>.

126. After the attack on the Headquarters of the United Nations Assistance Mission in Iraq (UNAMI) in Baghdad on 19 August 2003, the Security Council adopted resolution 1502 (2003) condemning all forms of violence against those participating in humanitarian operations<sup>338</sup>. The Assembly also condemned the attack and called for intensified

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>333</sup> A/55/637. For further background, see also A/54/619-S/1999/957.

<sup>334</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>335</sup> Ibid., p. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>336</sup> A/RES/56/89, para. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>337</sup> A/RES/56/217.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>338</sup> See also S/PRST/2003/13.

international cooperation to prevent and eradicate such acts of terrorism and to hold accountable all those who participate in such acts<sup>339</sup>.

127. The Assembly has continued to request the Secretary-General to include when negotiating host country agreements the key provisions of the Convention such as those regarding the prevention of attacks against members of the operation, the establishment of such attacks as crimes punishable by law and the prosecution or extradition of offenders<sup>340</sup>.

128. Overall, the legal protection offered under the 1994 Convention on the Safety of United Nations and Associated Personnel was discussed on numerous occasions in the Assembly during the period under review<sup>341</sup>. The core provisions of the Convention were introduced in a growing number of status-of-forces and status-of-mission agreements which had the effect of extending the scope of application of the Convention to United Nations operations in countries which were not parties to the Convention<sup>342</sup>. The Secretary-General has advocated for a legal instrument to expand its scope to all United Nations operations by means of a legal instrument, dispensing entirely of the need for a "declaration of exceptional risk" as there were difficulties in the issuance of such a "declaration" After discussions in the Ad Hoc Committee on the Scope of Legal Protection under the Convention on the Safety of United Nations and Associated Personnel<sup>344</sup> and the Working Group of the Sixth Committee on the Scope of Legal Protection under the Convention on the Safety of United Nations and Associated Personnel<sup>345</sup>, the Sixth Committee recommended that the Assembly adopt the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Safety of United Nations and Associated Personnel<sup>346</sup>. The protocol extended the application of the provisions of the Convention on the Safety of Untied Nations and Associated Personnel to United Nations

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>339</sup> A/RES/57/338.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>340</sup> See, e.g., A/RES/55/175, A/RES/56/217, A/RES/58/122, A/RES/64/77.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>341</sup> See A/RES/56/89, A/RES/57/28, A/RES/58/82, A/RES/59/47.

 $<sup>^{342}</sup>$  See, e.g., A/59/226 for the background to its inclusion in status-of-forces and status-of-mission agreements.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>344</sup> Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixtieth Session, Supplement No. 52 (A/60/52).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>345</sup> A/C.6/60/L.4.

 $<sup>^{346}\,\</sup>mathrm{A}/60/518$ . See also A/RES/60/42.

operations which have the purpose of delivering humanitarian, political or development assistance in peacebuilding, or delivering emergency humanitarian assistance<sup>347</sup>.

129. In the period under review, the Assembly stressed the essential role of telecommunication resources in ensuring the security of humanitarian personnel and called upon States to consider acceding to or ratifying the Tampere Convention on the Provision of Telecommunication Resources for Disaster Mitigation and Relief Operation<sup>348</sup>. The Secretary-General had, in 2002, observed that terrorist-related threats had increased and appealed to Member States that do not permit the United Nations to equip itself with any form of communications equipment to lift such restrictions in the interest of the safety and security of staff members.<sup>349</sup>

130. In 2005 the Secretary-General noted that some host Governments continued to be unwilling to provide timely information in the event of the arrest or detention of United Nations personnel, particularly locally recruited personnel, or to investigate attacks or other threats against them or indeed to hold the perpetrators accountable under international and national law<sup>350</sup>. This was a common thread amongst the Assembly resolutions of the period and continues to be a serious issue in improving the safety and security of all personnel<sup>351</sup>.

131. The Secretariat has continued move towards a more strengthened and enhanced system-wide security management system for the United Nations," the Secretary-General enumerated some of the steps taken to enable the United Nations to meet new demands, as authorized by the General Assembly, which began in 1999 with an increase in the staff in the Office of the United Nations Security Coordinator. Such measures also included the appointment of a full-time United Nations Security Coordinator in 2001 at the level of an Assistant Secretary-General, more than doubling the size of its headquarters staff and quadrupling the number

 $<sup>^{347}</sup>$  A/RES/60/42, Annex, Article II.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>348</sup> See, e.g., A/RES/56/217, A/RES/57/155, A/RES/58/122, A/RES/59/211, A/RES/64/77.

 $<sup>^{349}</sup>$  A/57/300.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>350</sup> A/60/223 & Corr.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>351</sup> See, e.g., A/RES/54/192, A/RES/56/217, A/RES/60/123, A/RES/62/95, A/RES/64/77.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>352</sup> A/RES/63/138, para. 18.

of staff in the field in 2002, improved recruitment and training for the Organization's security staff and the institutionalization of security coordination among United Nations agencies and programmes through the establishment of the Inter-Agency Security Management Network<sup>353</sup>. The Department of Safety and Security (DSS) was established by the General Assembly in part XI of its resolution 59/276 in response to the report of the Secretary-General entitled "Strengthened and unified security management system for the United Nations"<sup>354</sup>. The Secretary-General said that this Department will provide common security policies and standards leading to improvements in the quality and scope of the Organization's security arrangements. This would "enhance the Organization's ability to conduct its activities in an effective and efficient manner while ensuring the security and safety of its staff posted in different parts of the world". The new Department consolidated the security management component of the Office of the United Nations Security Coordinator<sup>356</sup>, the Security and Safety Services (SSS) at Headquarters and at Offices away from Headquarters, (including the regional commissions), and the civilian security component of the Department of Peacekeeping Operations (DPKO) into a single security management framework.

132. In the aftermath of an the attack on United Nations offices in Algiers on 11 December 2007, the Secretary-General established an Independent Panel on Safety and Security of United Nations personnel and premises around the world<sup>357</sup> which had a broad mandate, with a focus on "strategic issues vital to delivery and enhancement of the security of United Nations personnel and premises and the changing threats and risks faced by it" The Panel was to "examine the inherent vulnerabilities of United Nations operations around

<sup>353</sup> A/59/365, para. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>354</sup> A/59/365 and Corr. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>355</sup> Ibid., para. 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>356</sup> General Assembly resolution 57/155 had welcomed the appointment of a full-time United Nations Security Coordinator at the level of Assistant Secretary-General "to further strengthen security coordination and management and to sustain the initiatives aimed at increasing the efficacy of the security management system".

<sup>357</sup> The Panel was established on 5 February 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>358</sup> "Towards a Culture of Security and Accountability" - The Report of the Independent Panel on Safety and Security of UN Personnel and Premises Worldwide 9 June 2008, para. 1.

the world in order to build confidence among the staff within the system and enhance credibility among the Member States, civil society and other relevant stakeholders"<sup>359</sup>.

133. The panel found that since the creation of DSS, the United Nations security management system had "improved significantly" but certain areas need strengthening, namely; accountability, leadership, and internal management and oversight. The panel also stated that DSS was also inadequate in its response to warnings and security-related information, and that it had insufficient technical and financial resources to design and set up preventive and protective measures<sup>361</sup>. The Panel gave many recommendations in this regard<sup>362</sup>. The Secretary-General used the panel's report to request that the General Assembly support a "new strategic vision in recognition that the unified security structure must implement sound, well-designed and valuable security programmes and policies throughout a decentralized security management system"<sup>363</sup>. The Secretary-General in his report to the General Assembly summarised the measures taken to ensure a more effective United Nations security management system through mainstreaming of a security management system<sup>364</sup> and various other initiatives<sup>365</sup>. The measures were designed to create a fundamental shift in culture from that of a "when to leave" mindset to a "how to stay" mindset through a new approach to security risk management<sup>366</sup>. This would reflect the call of the Chief Executives Board in their statement on safety and security of United Nations system staff<sup>367</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>359</sup> Press Release SG/SM/11403.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>360</sup> Ibid., para. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>361</sup> Ibid., para. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>362</sup> Ibid., p. 77.

 $<sup>^{363}</sup>$  A/64/336, para. 63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>364</sup> Ibid., para. 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>365</sup> Ibid., para. 41. One initiative already in place was promulgated in ST/SGB/2003/19 "Basic security in the field: staff safety, health and welfare (Interactive online learning)". This training was designed to provide basic training on various aspects of personal safety, health and welfare.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>366</sup> Ibid., para. 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>367</sup> CEB/2009/1.

134. In resolution 64/77 the Assembly welcomed the ongoing efforts of the Secretary-General<sup>368</sup> to address the recommendations of the Independent Panel on Safety and Security of United Nations Personnel and Premises Worldwide<sup>369</sup>.

2. THE QUESTION OF GOVERNMENTS PROVIDING THE SECRETARY-GENERAL WITH INFORMATION RELATING TO STAFF MEMBERS

135. As with the previous studies on Article 100, it can be stated that there has been little development on the issue of information provided by governments regarding staff members. In the period in question, there were calls for governments to cooperate with each other in exchanging information to facilitate the conduct of investigations into the criminal behaviour of staff members<sup>370</sup>. In response to this, the Secretary-General prepared a report for the 63<sup>rd</sup> session entitled "Criminal accountability of United Nations officials and experts on mission"<sup>371</sup>. This report contained information received from Governments about the extent to which their national laws establish jurisdiction, particularly over crimes of a serious nature committed by their nationals while serving as United Nations officials or experts on mission, as well as information on cooperation among States and with the United Nations in the exchange of information and the facilitation of investigations and prosecution of such individuals. The report was considered by the General Assembly in 2009<sup>372</sup> and in the same session and resolution the Assembly took note of the information provided by Member States in facilitating the conduct of investigations<sup>373</sup>.

136. Another development relating to information being required from the Member States was the new instruction on personal status for purposes of United Nations entitlements<sup>374</sup>. As per this issuance, promulgated by the Secretary-General, "requests

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>368</sup> A/RES/64/77, paras. 20 and 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>369</sup> Ibid., para. 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>370</sup> A/RES/62/63.

 $<sup>^{371}</sup>$  A/63/260.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>372</sup> A/RES/63/119.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>373</sup> Ibid., para. 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>374</sup> ST/SGB/2004/13.

relating to the determination of the personal status of staff members in connection with their entitlements will be submitted by the Secretariat for verification by the Permanent Mission to the United Nations of the country of nationality of the staff member concerned. Once the Mission has verified that the status in question is legally recognized under the law of that country for the purposes of granting benefits and entitlements, the Secretariat will take action in accordance with that verification"<sup>375</sup>.

3. THE QUESTION OF REGULATION BY A STATE OF ITS OWN NATIONALS ON STAFF

137. The issue of military service comes under the regulation of nationals by a Member State. In fact, in the overhaul of the Staff Rules and Regulations in 2009, there were some changes made to the granting of special leave without pay for military service. Though largely resembling the original, Rule 5.3 (b) was rewritten to reflect what was detailed in Appendix C. Thus, where before it stated that the rule would not apply to anyone recruited specifically for a mission, the new rule removed this precondition and said that the requirement was now for a staff member to have "successfully completed the competitive examination and completed one year of service under a fixed-term appointment or who holds a continuing appointment" The one year of service was also a reflection of the terms of Appendix C.

138. The Legal Counsel also clarified the policy of immunity from national service<sup>377</sup>. The Legal Counsel said that it had been reported that some instances of arrests and detention might have occurred in order to compel locally-recruited officials to perform national service obligations<sup>378</sup>. The Legal Counsel stressed that in accordance with the 1946 Convention on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>375</sup> Ibid., para. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>376</sup> ST/SGB/2009/7, Staff Rule 5.3 (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>377</sup> United Nations Judicial Yearbook, 2006, p. 502.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>378</sup> Ibid.

the Privileges and Immunities of the United Nations, officials shall be immune from national service obligations irrespective of nationality or place of recruitment<sup>379</sup>.

139. As is known, immunity from taxation for United Nations officials, granted by section 18(b) of the Convention on the Privileges and Immunities of the United Nations<sup>380</sup>, is not applicable to United States citizens and permanent residents as the United States made a reservation when acceding to the Convention<sup>381</sup>. Staff Regulation 3.3 (f) governs the payment and reimbursement of income taxes, such as those paid in the United States. An Information Circular released in 2004 reminded staff members who hold the status of United States legal permanent residents, or whose application for such status is pending, that they are to complete and sign the "Waiver of rights, privileges, exemptions and immunities"<sup>382</sup>.

140. In a case brought before the Administrative Tribunal from a United States citizen regarding the payment of taxes, the Tribunal found that "in complex matters such as those concerning social security, pensions, taxes or other issues of a similar nature, the Administration has to be especially careful" The Tribunal accepts that staff members need to be informed of their taxation obligations but that this information must come from the Administration and that the Administration "promulgate issuances on these issues, ensuring that they are informative and comprehensive, yet simple and easy to understand" Nonetheless, in that case, it found that ignorance of the law as an excuse was not acceptable and the staff member's plea for reimbursement of taxes was rejected. However, the Administration had to accept responsibility for providing erroneous information in regards to the United Nations system of tax reimbursement and the United States tax system and compensation was rewarded to the staff member as a result.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>379</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>380</sup> 13 February 1946.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>381</sup> The United States acceded to the Convention on 29 April 1970 but with some reservations. In particular, it asked that "Paragraph (b) of section 18 regarding immunity from taxation ... shall not apply with respect to United States nationals and aliens admitted for permanent residence".

<sup>382</sup> ST/IC/2004/31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>383</sup> Judgement No. 1185, Van Leeuwen (2004), para. III.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>384</sup> Ibid.

141. In another related case where the Secretary-General demoted a staff member with no possibility of promotion after finding that the staff member had the intent to commit fraud in the filing of his tax reimbursement claims<sup>385</sup>, the Tribunal rescinded the decision of the Secretary-General having found that the staff member "acted out of ignorance, not fraudulent intent"<sup>386</sup>. The Tribunal was 'perplexed' by the fact that the Secretary-General had gone against the recommendation of the *ad how* Joint Disciplinary Committee on Tax Cases (JDC) having found the JDC to be "an appointed fact-finding body made up of individuals carefully chosen for their skills and expertise in matters of tax and finance, whose sole purpose was to adjudicate tax cases; a fact-finding body established presumably because of the complex nature of tax and the impracticality of having staff members untrained and uneducated in matters of tax and finance attempting to adjudicate such complicated matters"<sup>387</sup>. Again, the Tribunal cautioned the Administration and raised a point noted in a previous case:

"Consideration should be given to the special skills which are necessary for understanding rules of such a technical nature, skills which not everyone possesses" 388.

142. It was after this case that the form used for staff members to request tax reimbursement was changed to include a new line on the wrongfulness of filing different versions of tax returns with the Organisation and the tax authorities. Any difference is now to be deemed as constituting "misconduct leading to appropriate disciplinary sanctions under the Staff Regulations and Rules".

143. There have been many legal opinions given by OLA on the issues connected to the taxation of officials. Though a thorough review of all these opinions is beyond the scope of this study, they outline comprehensively the rationale behind the need for United Nations

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>385</sup> Judgement No. 1244 (AT/DEC/1244).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>386</sup> Ibid., para. IV.

<sup>387</sup> Ibid., para. V.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>388</sup> Van Leeuwen, para. III.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>389</sup> Form F.65.

officials to enjoy immunity from taxation. This includes the rationale that "immunity from taxation of salaries paid by the United Nations is to achieve equality of treatment of all officials of the Organization, independent of nationality" which is achieved through the payment of staff assessments in lieu of national taxation. If officials were subject to national taxation, they would be paying different percentages of their income as taxation depending on their nationality.

# 4. THE QUESTION OF STATE REGULATIONS APPLICABLE TO OTHER STAFF MEMBERS

144. The longstanding policy whereby international staff members (other than United States citizens and permanent residents), whose duty station is in the United States are required to obtain G-4 visa status and relinquish any other visa status in the United States was updated on 18 September 2000, though slightly, with an issuance of Administrative Instruction ST/AI/2000/19<sup>391</sup>. This instruction contained, most notably, stricter provisions outlining the application procedure for G5 visas for household staff<sup>392</sup>. This reflected the change in policy from the United States Government whereby G5 holders were to be governed, more and more, by applicable labour laws including, *inter alia*, social security and taxation obligations. Staff members holding a G4 visa are now required to make an application for the G5 visa which includes an employment contract<sup>393</sup>, as well as maintain certain records as required by United States authorities<sup>394</sup>. Having these more stringent provisions set out in the instruction was reflective of how the United States government wanted to ensure that G5 visa-holders were to be treated fairly by their employers. There was also a new bulletin released on the composition and function of the Visa Committee,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>390</sup> United Nations Judicial Yearbook, 2005, p. 440. See also, e.g., United Nations Judicial Yearbook, 2003, p. 558, United Nations Judicial Yearbook, 2005, p. 446, United Nations Judicial Yearbook, 2007, p. 398, United Nations Judicial Yearbook, 2008, p. 401.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>391</sup> ST/AI/2000/19, Additional information was provided in ST/IC/2001/27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>392</sup> Ibid., sect. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>393</sup> Ibid., sect. 7.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>394</sup> Ibid., sect. 6.3.

which considers all visa requests<sup>395</sup>. The new instruction also reflected the new requirements for G5 visas and the reconstitution of the committee on 31 July 1999.

145. In 2005 OLA gave a legal opinion regarding mandatory contributions for health insurance under national legislation<sup>396</sup>. The opinion was referring to a Member State requesting that staff members working in their country join a mandatory national health insurance scheme. OLA said that the mandatory requirement to join the scheme was tantamount to "direct taxation"<sup>397</sup> and that the Organization's exemption from national health insurance schemes stems from the fact that the Organization has its own comprehensive social security scheme for its staff members<sup>398</sup>. In conclusion, the opinion asked that the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the State in question recognise the privileges and immunities of the United Nations and its officials and ensure that officials are not subject to compulsory membership in national health insurance schemes<sup>399</sup>.

### 5. REQUESTS TO APPOINT OR REPLACE OFFICIALS

146. As stipulated in the previous report, Member States have increasingly recalled Article  $100^{400}$  of the UN Charter and the need for an internationally independent civil service and for the authority of the Secretary-General to be respected. On a few occasions, the Member States reiterated their position in the General Assembly on the necessity for no post to be considered the exclusive preserve of any Member State or group of States<sup>401</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>395</sup> ST/SGB/2000/11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>396</sup> United Nations Judicial Yearbook, 2005, p. 439.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>397</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>398</sup> Ibid., p. 440.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>399</sup> Ibid., p. 440.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>400</sup> A/RES/59/266, A/RES/60/238, A/RES/61/244, A/RES/63/250.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>401</sup> A/RES/57/305, para. 37, A/RES/59/266, sect. IV, para. 13, A/RES/61/244, sect. X, para. 15.

6. THE QUESTION OF SPECIAL RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE HOST COUNTRY

147. In the period under review, the discussions on the right of the host country to restrict travel of certain nationalities continued, albeit such considerations were in the context of restrictions placed on delegations to the United Nations. In 2000, the Assistant Secretary-General in charge of OLA delivered a legal opinion on the obligations of a host country regarding the requirement to issue visas to participants invited to a United Nations-related meeting i.e. a meeting not being convened by the United Nations but taking place at UN Headquarters<sup>402</sup>. The opinion said that "while the host country could not be called upon to issue the visas concerned as a matter of legal obligation, the nexus between the Conference and the United Nations is such that the host country could be expected to issue the visas as a matter of courtesy". In that regard, the opinion recommended that the Committee on Relations with the Host Country consider recommending such a request to the General Assembly. The committee did make such recommendation and the Assembly approved this for the host country to consider.

148. There were discussions on the special rights of the host country on the issue of travel controls, with repeated calls made from the General Assembly to the host country for their removal<sup>403</sup>. The host country repeatedly stressed that no country should be called upon to sacrifice its national security<sup>404</sup>. The host country stressed that the restrictions did not relate to official United Nations business within the meaning of section 11 of the Agreement between the United Nations and the United States of America regarding the Headquarters of the United Nations. The host country would repeatedly reiterate this position during the meetings of the Committee on Relations with the Host Country<sup>405</sup> and in other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>402</sup> Official Record General Assembly, Fifty-Fifth Session, Supplement No. 26 (A/55/26), para. 51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>403</sup> See, *inter alia*, A/RES/55/154, para. 5, A/RES/56/84, para. 4, A/RES/57/22, para. 5, A/RES/58/78, para. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>404</sup> See Official Record General Assembly, Fifty-Sixth Session, Supplement No. 26 (A/56/26), para. 16, Official Record General Assembly, Fifty-Seventh Session, Supplement No. 26 (A/57/26), para. 10, Official Record General Assembly, Sixtieth Session, Supplement No. 26 (A/60/26), para. 66.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>405</sup> See, *inter alia*, Official Record General Assembly, Fifty-Sixth Session, Supplement No. 26 (A/56/26), para 16, Official Record General Assembly, Fifty-Seventh Session, Supplement No. 26 (A/57/26), para 10, Official Record General Assembly, Fifty-Eighth Session, Supplement No. 26 (A/58/26), para 50, Official

correspondence<sup>406</sup>. During the reporting period, the host country made some changes to the travel restrictions which had been imposed on staff members of certain nationalities such as on personal travel and recreation<sup>407</sup>, of notification of travel<sup>408</sup> and for designated border entry and exit points<sup>409</sup>. The General Assembly noted these issuances and asked for any and all remaining travel restrictions to be removed<sup>410</sup>.

### 7. THE QUESTION OF SECONDMENT

149. In the period under review, the General Assembly reaffirmed that secondment from government service is consistent with Article 100 of the Charter and is beneficial to both the Organization and Member States<sup>411</sup>. The Assembly also urged the Secretary-General to pursue the practice on a wider scale<sup>412</sup>.

150. The issue of secondment and the right to renewal of a staff member's contract when under a fixed term appointment was revisited in a case brought before the UN Administrative Tribunal. In a judgment issued in 2009 the Tribunal held that with each letter of appointment in that case the condition of secondment was specifically mentioned (in accordance with Annex II of the Staff Rules) and thus a "valid secondment did exist" In that regard:

"As the Applicant had been employed solely on a secondment basis, the ... government did not agree to extend the secondment, and the contract was made conditional upon that secondment, it was reasonable and not improper for the

Record General Assembly, Fifty-ninth Session, Supplement No. 26 (A/59/26), para. 25, Official Record General Assembly, Sixty-Second Session, Supplement No. 26 (A/62/26), para. 46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>406</sup> The position was also made clear in a letter from the dated 21 February 2001 from the Minister-Counsellor for Host Country Affairs of the United States Mission to the United Nations addressed to the Chairman of the Committee on Relations with the Host Country.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>407</sup> ST/IC/2004/38, ST/IC/2005/15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>408</sup> ST/IC/2006/10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>409</sup> ST/IC/2005/59.

 $<sup>^{410}</sup>$  A/RES/60/24, para. 5. See also A/RES/61/41, para. 4, A/RES/62/72, para. 5, A/RES/63/130, para. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>411</sup> A/RES/55/258, sect. IV, para. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>412</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>413</sup> Judgement No. 1474, paras. 33 and XVIII. See also Judgement Nos. 1048, 1057 and 1084.

Organization to consider the views of the ... government and to make a decision not to renew the Applicant's fixed term contract".

#### 8. SUPPLEMENTARY PAYMENTS TO STAFF

151. Following the decision to prohibit all supplementary payment to staff members<sup>415</sup>, it was necessary to reflect the change within the Staff Rules and Regulations. A change was made to Staff Regulation 1.2 (j), the amended text of which stated:

"No staff member shall accept any honour, decoration, favour, gift or remuneration from any Government."

152. This reaffirmed the prohibition on acceptance of benefits from Governments<sup>416</sup>. The change was also reflected in the revisions of the Staff Rules in 2009. Staff Rule 1.2 (k) was adopted, stating that:

"No staff member shall accept any honour, decoration, favour, gift or remuneration from any Government. However, if refusal of an unanticipated honour, decoration, favour or gift from a Government would cause embarrassment to the Organization, the staff member may receive it on behalf of the Organization provided that it is reported and entrusted to the Secretary-General through established procedures".

As has been noted, the ICSC had previously deemed the word 'remuneration' to include supplementary payments by Member States to their nationals on staff<sup>417</sup>.

# D. Questions arising from the relationship of staff members to the State of which they are a national

<sup>414</sup> Ibid., para. XVIII.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>415</sup> See discussions under the study of this Article in Supplement 8 and Supplement 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>416</sup> See ST/SGB/1998/19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>417</sup> See discussions under the study of this Article in Supplement 9.

153. In a case brought before the UN Administrative Tribunal in 2006, a staff member appealed a decision on the Administration's recognition of her nationality. The Tribunal held that it "will not substitute its judgement for the discretion of the Administration in determining applicable nationality, unless the latter's powers are exercised in an arbitrary or abusive manner" It also held that "a further change of the Applicant's nationality will be possible only if the Administration made a mistake in its determination ... or if [there is] fresh evidence showing that the Applicant now has closer ties with another State" The Tribunal found that it was "clearly apparent that the Applicant only really decided she wanted to revert to her former nationality when she lost the additional benefits and her internationally recruited status" In conclusion, the Tribunal stated that it "is not acceptable to seek to profit by successive changes in nationality and status within the Organization in order to obtain maximum benefits from the entitlements and other advantages accorded by the Administration to internationally recruited staff" <sup>421</sup>.

154. A legal opinion from 2004 by OLA reiterated the authority of the Secretary-General to determine with which State a staff member has the closest ties in cases of dual nationality, and therefore which nationality such staff member will be considered for the Organization's purposes under the Staff Rules<sup>422</sup>.

<sup>418</sup> Judgement No. 1300, para. II.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>419</sup> Ibid., para. II.

<sup>420</sup> Ibid., para. VI.

<sup>421</sup> Ibid., para. VII.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>422</sup> United Nations Juridical Yearbook, 2004, p. 370-371.